

Workshop Report:

Science of 10-km Resolution L-band Radiometry

Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, California October 10-12, 2023

Version 1 (October 30, 2024)

Authored by: Organizing Committee, Workshop Participants, and the Community

Citation: Colliander, A., W. Crow, D. Entekhabi, S. Fournier, J. Harper, T. Holmes, J. Kimball, T. Lee, T. Maksym, S. Quiring, A. Roy, A. Akins, E. Bayler, R. Bindlish, F. Bingham, S. Belair, P. Dirmeyer, M. Drusch, J. Du, A. Ebtehaj, A. Farahani, A. Feldman, T. Ford, B. Hornbuckle, J. Houser, J. Johnson, L. Kaleschke, H. Kim, A. Konings, S. Kumar, D. Long, G. Macelloni, S. Misra, J. Miller, M. Piles, K. Rasmussen, N. Rodriguez-Fernandez, J. Roundy, J. Santanello, J. Schanze, P. Siqueira, D. Vandemark, J-P. Wigneron, X. Xu, L. Yu. (2024). Science of 10-km Resolution L-band Radiometry: Workshop Report. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, California, USA, October 10-12, 2023. https://doi.org/10.48577/jpl.LY2KYW

A contribution to this work was made at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, under a contract with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (80NM0018D0004). © 2024. All rights reserved.

Contents

1	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1		
2	AU	THORS	
3	wo	PRKSHOP SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES	
	3.1	Background5	
	3.2	Why 10 km?6	
	3.3	Revisit Time and Other Observational Parameters7	
	3.4	Synergistic Observations7	
4	ос	EANOGRAPHY (SEA SURFACE SALINITY)	
	4.1	Open Ocean Processes8	
	4.2	Coastal Processes10	
	4.3	Polar Processes	
	4.4	SSS Retrieval Considerations12	
5	CR	YOSPHERE14	
	5.1	Sea Ice (Sea Ice Thickness)14	
	5.2	Ice Sheet Melt (Liquid Water Content)15	
	5.3	Ice Sheet Temperature (Temperature Profile)16	
	5.4	Land Surface (Freeze/Thaw and Temperature)17	
6	HY	DROLOGY (SOIL MOISTURE)21	
	6.1	Science Motivation and Goals21	
	6.2	Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution23	
	6.3	Revisit Time and Other Considerations24	
	6.4	Soil Moisture Retrieval Considerations24	
7	AT	10SPHERE: CONVECTIVE INITIATION (SOIL MOISTURE)25	
	7.1	Science Motivation and Goals25	
	7.2	Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution	
	7.3	Revisit Time and Other Considerations26	
8	EC	OLOGY (VEGETATION OPTICAL DEPTH)27	
	8.1	Science Motivation and Goals28	
	8.2	Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution28	
	8.3	Revisit Time and Other Considerations29	
	8.4	VOD Retrieval Considerations29	
9	SC	IENCE TRACEABILITY MATRIX EXAMPLES	
REF	EREN	CES	
APF	PENDI)	(: WORKSHOP AGENDA	

1 Executive Summary

The Science of 10-km Resolution L-band Radiometry Workshop focused on the need for higher spatial resolution spaceborne L-band (1.4 GHz) radiometry in various science disciplines. The message from the workshop was that crossing the 10-km resolution threshold (set for the workshop based on past studies and for pragmatic reasons and purposes) would unlock new science in several disciplines. Key points included the importance of a short revisit interval (daily or sub-daily) and the benefit of combining L-band brightness temperature with higher-frequency radiometer measurements (6-37 GHz) and other satellite data.

Spaceborne L-band radiometry from the ESA SMOS (Soil Moisture Ocean Salinity), NASA/SAC-D Aquarius, and NASA SMAP (Soil Moisture Active Passive) missions launched in 2009, 2011, and 2015, respectively, has furthered our understanding of hydrology, oceanography, cryosphere, ecology, and atmospheric processes. The spatial resolution of these missions ranges from about 40 km to about 100 km. In the future, the ESA CIMR (Copernicus Imaging Microwave Radiometer) mission (launching in 2029) will continue L-band radiometer measurements at about 60 km spatial resolution. While the current L-band radiometer record is invaluable for studying the Earth system, its spatial resolution is insufficient for addressing many critical science questions, improving next-generation global Earth system models, and maximizing the synergistic surface observations at L-band (1.4 GHz) and higher-frequencies (6-37 GHz).

During the workshop, these areas were explored, and the science achievable with next-generation L-band radiometry was evaluated through presentations and discussions. The research question was: "What could be achieved if 10-km resolution L-band brightness temperature records were available with a daily revisit (on the equator) and coincidentally with the higher-frequency brightness temperatures?" The presentations and discussions also included how these observational parameters may need to be revised for what is required or, conversely, may surpass the needs. The following areas emphasized that spatial resolution of 10 km or finer would cross the threshold for achieving new science:

- Oceanography: To uncover land-sea exchanges, ocean-ice interactions, and sea-air interface processes, the spatial scale of the sea surface salinity (SSS) measurement and its ability to get close to the ocean boundary (coastline or sea ice) is vital. A 10-km resolution would allow for capturing these processes.
- Oceanography: In regions with high freshwater variability, such as the coastal, tropical, and Arctic oceans, salinity affects surface density more than temperature, creating density fronts across a broad spectrum of spatial scales. At 10 km and smaller scales, in situ data indicate temperature increasingly compensates salinity's influence, erasing lateral density gradients – a process associated with submesoscale restratification involving frontal slumping, surface-layer instabilities, and subsequent vertical mixing. Determining if this mechanism universally applies or is confined to fronts with compensated temperature and salinity remains a question. A 10km resolution for salinity observations would advance understanding of these effects, extending beyond major tropical rivers to many smaller river plumes.
- Oceanography: Climate models will not resolve the submesoscales in the near future, so the
 effects of motions at these scales will need parameterization. However, parameterizations for
 upper ocean re-stratification by submesoscale, surface-layer eddies require guidance and
 rigorous evaluation from observational datasets that surpass the 10-km resolution threshold.

- Cryosphere: Understanding sea ice production and growth rates, ice edge processes, and airice-sea interactions requires determining the typically thin sea ice thickness. Current capabilities are insufficient, but a 10-km scale would enable effective observation of many of these processes.
- Cryosphere: For accounting for the changing of the refreeze and runoff partitioning across the Greenland ice sheet to understand its mass balance change and contribution to the sea level rise, liquid water content (LWC) is needed at a spatial resolution of at least 10 km twice a day. The 40-km resolution does not adequately capture the requirements for definite modeling of ice sheet processes.
- Atmosphere: To resolve land-atmosphere feedbacks and their impact on the planetary boundary layer, essential for understanding the timing and location of convective storms and tornadoes, the spatial scale of soil moisture (SM) measurement is crucial. The current 40-km scale misses dry-wet boundaries and wet spots that drive these processes, while a 10-km resolution would enable their better monitoring and potentially improve their prediction.
- Hydrology: High-resolution, high-accuracy SM has numerous hydrological uses. The 40-km scale smooths over natural SM variability, but the larger scales of precipitation and atmospheric forcing set a lower limit on SM variability in many regions. Globally, a 10-km scale aligns better with most of these natural forcings. Flash flood prediction, for example, would benefit from identifying areas where soil saturation exceeds critical levels.
- Ecology: Land surface and ecological models continuously push spatial resolution limits, using a mix of resolution scales that does not have to match the model output scale exactly, depending on the parameter. However, lagging too far behind reduces utility and eventually prohibits the effective use of such observables in the models. A 10-km resolution SM and vegetation optical depth (VOD) would better support future models moving toward higher resolution scales.
- Ecology: To track water storage and movement along the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum at ecosystem or ecoregion level, synergistic observations from higher-frequency microwave channels could enhance detection of water movement across soil-vegetation gradients and between woody and leafy biomass. These observables would enable major scientific advances in understanding how vegetation sustains photosynthesis and growth by regulating internal water storage and land-atmosphere exchanges of water, energy, and carbon. Potential applications include drought and wildfire risk assessment and crop management improvements.

The benefit of enhancing the spatial resolution was unequivocally pointed out in many areas, but whether crossing the 10-km resolution threshold alone would enable significant new scientific advances was not fully established. Potential science returns vs resolution were also discussed:

- Cryosphere: The terrestrial cryosphere is primarily defined by the annual freeze-thaw (FT) cycles. L-band radiometry supports observing soil and vegetation FT, but the current 40-km resolution struggles to capture the heterogeneous FT in boreal and sub-arctic landscapes. Higher spatial resolution is needed to more effectively resolve critical FT controls on permafrost stability, vegetation productivity, and water and carbon fluxes.
- Ecology: L-band radiometry-based vegetation optical depth (L-VOD) is valuable for investigating vegetation biomass and water content, including forests. However, current capabilities limit analysis mostly to regional scales. Forest conditions vary globally, and the required resolution thresholds for studying different forest types and processes are still undefined. L-band

radiometry offers unique, complementary information to optical and radar vegetation data, but further research is needed to determine the optimal design for combined observations.

- Agriculture: For agricultural applications, including irrigation, SMAP and SMOS SM and VOD are
 invaluable at regional to continental scales, with finer resolutions enabling progressively more
 applications. The open question is how much return each resolution level offers and when it
 justifies the investment. A 10-km resolution alone is insufficient, so downscaling with higherresolution data is necessary. Studies show that starting downscaling at 10 km improves the
 quality of a 1-km downscaled dataset by 50-100 % compared to starting at 40 km
- Wildfire, drought, flood, and other disturbances: L-band radiometer observables like SM, surface inundation, and VOD, are valuable for monitoring disturbances such as drought severity, flood risk, and vegetation recovery, benefiting from the L-band's all-weather capability, vegetation penetration, and sensitivity to standing water and moisture in near-surface soil, snow, and vegetation. New applications could include tracking live fuel moisture, underrepresented in fire models. The utility of these data increases with finer spatial resolution and potentially with up to four daily samples to capture diurnal changes. However, optimal design and cost-benefit tradeoffs for enhanced L-band applications remain undefined.
- Oceanic processes and air-sea interaction: Research on oceanic mesoscale dynamics has highlighted its role in transporting heat, momentum, and tracers via eddies, while studies on sub-1 km scales have explored the effects on mixing and energy dissipation. However, submesoscale processes, bridging meso- and smaller scales, are less understood and have only recently become a focus of research. Characterized by O(1) Rossby number dynamics, these processes challenge traditional quasi-geostrophic theory and are crucial for integrating larger and smaller scale ocean dynamics, uncovering intricate mechanisms just beginning to be understood. L-band observations at 10-km resolution would significantly enhance our capability to observe, model, and forecast these essential processes.

The revisit time for measurements was emphasized across all science cases, with daily or sub-daily observations of geophysical parameters identified as a threshold for achieving new science. The workshop focused on the relevance and potential of next-generation L-band radiometer measurements, especially in light of the upcoming NASA Earth Science Decadal Survey, which will set post-2027 science priorities. The workshop highlighted the cross-disciplinary science potential of 10-km L-band radiometry, emphasizing the need to explore ways to make this capability a reality.

2 Authors

Organizing Committee:

Andreas Colliander (Chair), Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Wade Crow, USDA-ARS Hydrology and Remote Sensing Laboratory, USA Dara Entekhabi, MIT, USA Severine Fournier, Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Joel Harper, U. Montana, USA Thomas Holmes, NASA GSFC, USA John Kimball, U. Montana, USA Tony Lee, Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Ted Maksym, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute, USA Steven Quiring, The Ohio State U., USA Alexandre Roy, U. Québec at Trois-Rivières, Canada Workshop Presenters, Participants, and other **Contributors:** Alex Akins, Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Eric Bayler, NOAA, USA Rajat Bindlish, GSFC, USA Frederick Bingham, University of North Carolina at Wilmington, USA Stephane Belair, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Canada Paul Dirmeyer, George Mason U., USA Matthias Drusch, ESA, The Netherlands Jinyang Du, University of Montana, USA Ardeshir Ebtehaj, University of Minnesota, USA Ali Farahani, University of New Hampshire, USA

Andrew Feldman, NASA GSFC/University of Maryland, USA Trent Ford, Illinois State Water Survey, USA, USA Brian Hornbuckle, Iowa State U., USA Jana Houser, The Ohio State U., USA Joel Johnson, The Ohio State U., USA Lars Kaleschke, Alfred Wegener Institute, Germany Hyunglok Kim, Gwangju Institute of Science and Technology, Republic of Korea Alexandra Konings, Stanford University, USA Sujay Kumar, GSFC, USA David Long, Brigham Young University, USA Giovanni Macelloni, IFAC, Italy Sid Misra, Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Julie Miller, University of Colorado, Boulder, USA Maria Piles, Universitat de València, Spain Kristen Rasmussen, Colorado State U., USA Nemesio Rodriguez-Fernandez, CESBIO, Toulouse, France Joshua Roundy, University of Kansas, USA Joseph Santanello, NASA-GSFC, USA Julian Schanze, Earth and Space Research, USA Paul Sigueira, U. Massachusetts Amherst, USA Doug Vandemark, University of New Hampshire, USA Jean-Pierre Wigneron, INRAE Bordeaux, France Xiaolan Xu, Jet Propulsion Lab, California Institute of Technology, USA Lisan Yu, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute, USA

3 Workshop Scope and Objectives

As the name indicates, the workshop was not about any specific mission but about the science achievable with L-band radiometry were it available at a significantly enhanced (10-km) spatial resolution; this was the workshop's primary objective. The talks covered central disciplinary science and applications in hydrology, oceanography, cryosphere, ecology, and the atmosphere. Because of the high diversity of L-band radiometry applications, each discipline had only a limited amount of time to discuss the benefits of higher resolution observations and other associated needs regarding revisit time, other radiometry measurements, and other data needs. The workshop featured breakout sessions to facilitate additional discipline-specific discussions on priorities and requirements.

The Earth Science community is preparing for the upcoming NASA Earth Science Decadal Survey, expected in the 2027 timeframe, and the workshop was intended to raise awareness of the importance, number, and diversity of science cases enabled through higher resolution L-band radiometry. The workshop was ultimately more about identifying gaps and potential opportunities that could help shape future NASA priorities rather than trying to serve the current ones (established in the last Decadal Survey in 2017).

A specific goal of the workshop was to start developing science traceability matrices (STM) for the different science cases. STM provide a step-by-step outline of the justification of any given observations based on the science needs that the observations serve. The STM developed are shared with the community as part of this summary report, authored by the workshop participants.

3.1 Background

The potential of L-band (~1.4 GHz) radiometer measurements was recognized already in the 1970s with airborne experiments deploying L-band radiometers to measure soil moisture (SM; e.g., Schmugge et al., 1974) and sea surface salinity (SSS; e.g., Blume et al., 1978; Droppelman et al., 1970; Swift, 1974). The L-band radiometer onboard the Skylab was used to acquire the first SM and SSS retrievals from space (Eagleman and Lin, 1976; Jackson et al., 2014; Lerner and Hollinger, 1977), but the problem of deploying a large enough antenna in space to achieve an adequate spatial resolution with the low frequency kept the science community from accessing regularly measured L-band brightness temperatures (TB) from space for decades. Eventually, a new age of satellite L-band radiometry began in 2009 with the launch of the ESA Soil Moisture Ocean Salinity (SMOS) mission (Kerr et al., 2010); in 2011, NASA launched the Aquarius mission (Le Vine et al., 2010; Lagerloef et al., 2008), and in 2015, NASA launched the Soil Moisture Active Passive (SMAP) mission (Entekhabi et al., 2014).

These missions demonstrated an impressive list of science and technology objectives associated with global TB (e.g., Oliva et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2019), SM (e.g., Kerr et al., 2012; 2016; Chan et al., 2016; 2018; Rodriquez-Fernandez et al., 2019; Colliander et al., 2022a; 2023a), SSS (e.g., Font et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2017; Kao et al., 2018; Vinogradova et al., 2019; Reul et al., 2020), freeze/thaw (e.g., Rautiainen et al., 2016; Derksen et al., 2017), and vegetation optical depth (VOD) (e.g., Rodriquez-Fernandez et al., 2018; Wigneron et al., 2021; Chaubell et al., 2022) retrievals; interferometric synthetic aperture radiometry (e.g., Martin-Neira et al., 2016); high-precision radiometry (e.g., Sen et al., 2014); and a large, deployable, spinning reflector (e.g., Piepmeier et al., 2014);

2017). Furthermore, radio frequency interference (RFI) sources in the protected 1.4 GHz band were detected, strategies were developed to eliminate them on the ground, and techniques and technologies were implemented to mitigate their impact (Misra and Ruf, 2008; Le Vine et al., 2014; Oliva et al., 2016). But beyond all this, the missions demonstrated a long list of other things, such as the value of SSS retrieval with less-than-optimal noise performance but higher resolution (Aquarius SSS vs SMAP SSS); hurricane winds (e.g., Reul et al., 2012; Yueh et al., 2016); thin sea ice thickness (SIT) retrieval (e.g., Kaleschke et al., 2010); ice sheet parameter retrieval (e.g., Macelloni et al., 2019; Houtz et al., 2019; 2021; Leduc-Leballeur et al., 2020; Mousavi et al., 2021); a range of applications using operational TB, SM, SSS, and VOD data, and many others. L-band radiometry has simply been an absolute success, offering unique capabilities to the suite of Earth observation tools. However, advancing to the next step is extra challenging due to the need for an even larger aperture to enhance spatial resolution, requiring an extra solid scientific foundation for building the next-generation capabilities.

3.2 Why 10 km?

The workshop was scoped to discuss the benefits of 10-km L-band radiometry. The current available resolution is about 40 km with SMAP (Piepmeier et al., 2017) and SMOS (McMullan et al., 2008), and the future has a guaranteed approximately 60 km resolution from ESA's Copernicus Imaging Microwave Radiometer (CIMR) mission (Donlon, 2020). At the same time, several studies have indicated that there are science cases and applications that require much finer resolution (Farahani et al., 2022). However, as the workshop focused on the foreseeable next-generation observations, we must acknowledge certain limitations in available observational approaches. The aperture size required for a 10-km resolution would be about 24 m when matching SMAP's 40° incidence angle and orbit altitude of 685 km and about 40 m when matching CIMR's 55° incidence angle and orbit altitude of 820 km. The incidence angle and orbit altitude determine the swath width and, consequently, the revisit time of the measurements. Considering structures currently in space, these seem feasible, albeit very large, with a non-rotating imaging technique. This could be implemented with a thinnedarray synthetic aperture (such as SMOS). However, going substantially past the 40-m size with the technology available for a next-generation instrument does not seem likely. While a 10-km improvement compared to 40 km may not sound that impressive, it corresponds to a 16-fold increase in spatial information content, and it makes a critical difference in observing many physical processes, as concluded from the workshop. There are past studies indicating that a 10-km resolution would exceed a threshold enabling significant new science and applications compared to 40 km (e.g., the user consultation study by Escorihuela and Kerr, 2018; Kerr et al., 2019a; 2019b - the workshop included a presentation on this study).

Some physical parameters retrieved with L-band radiometry can be spatially enhanced by combining them with other higher-resolution measurements, resulting in a higher-resolution retrieval. A prime example is the original SMAP approach, combining the coarse-resolution radiometer data with the high-resolution radar data for SM measurements. The approach takes advantage of the land surface response of both measurements with respect to SM. Other examples include fusing L-band with nested higher frequency retrievals with smaller native footprint sizes. As L-band radiometry provides the essential information content for SM retrieval, the spatial downscaling techniques (Peng et al., 2017) cannot match the accuracy of SM retrieved with equivalent native resolution L-band radiometry. However, the downscaling techniques naturally benefit from a

baseline finer resolution L-band TB observation. To manage the workshop's scope and include all science disciplines, the focus was on what can be achieved with 10-km L-band radiometer measurements and not on downscaling techniques, although it is acknowledged that they are related to the broader topic.

3.3 Revisit Time and Other Observational Parameters

The science return of any Earth observation instrument depends on multiple factors. While the workshop's primary focus was on spatial resolution – due to the challenge it poses for low-frequency radiometry – other important observation parameters may decide whether the potential higher resolution measurement is useful. One of the most prominent ones is the revisit time, meaning when and how often any given location is observed. The required revisit time depends on the physical process under observation (Kim and Crow, 2024). The premise of the workshop was that the 10-km L-band brightness temperature would be available from an observation system that would allow daily revisit time on the equator (for typical Earth observation orbits for these kinds of missions, the revisit time depends on the latitude; the revisit time is shorter for higher latitudes). A daily revisit time has been raised in several studies as critical for observing the relevant processes (Escorihuela and Kerr, 2018; Kerr et al., 2019a; 2019b). There are science cases where a shorter revisit time is required, or longer revisits can be tolerated. During the workshop, these requirements were discussed on a case-by-case basis. Generally, the importance of at least a daily revisit was highlighted for most science cases discussed during the workshop.

3.4 Synergistic Observations

In microwave radiometry, the complementary measurements in the 1.4-37 GHz frequency range have been only partially exploited and in variable degrees across science disciplines. In the future, CIMR will guarantee spatially and temporally collocated measurements in the 1.4-37 GHz frequency range and JAXA Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer 3 (AMSR3) for the 7-37 GHz frequency ranges. The two missions combined will also provide a range of local overpass times as CIMR will be on a 6 AM/PM orbit (the same as that of SMAP and SMOS), and AMSR3 will be on a 1:30 AM/PM orbit. CIMR will provide the 7 GHz and 37 GHz brightness temperatures at about 15 km and 4 km spatial resolutions, respectively; AMSR3 will provide them at about 60 km and 12 km resolutions, respectively. One of the workshop premises was that the CIMR-type of higher frequency observations would be available with the 10-km L-band observation at the same time, as this will represent state of the art in the future of 7-37 GHz measurements and enable many potential synergistic uses to the point that they help to justify a higher resolution L-band measurement, as discussed during the workshop. Many science observations also require or benefit from multiple other measurements, including radar, passive optical, thermal, and lidar. These were also brought up during the presentations and discussions.

4 Oceanography (Sea Surface Salinity)

Ocean salinity is a vital variable within the Earth's water cycle and a key driver of ocean dynamics (Siedler et al., 2001; Durack, 2015). Sea surface salinity (SSS) and subsurface salinity have been identified as Essential Climate Variables by the Global Climate Observing System (GCOS) and Essential Ocean Variables by the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) (Belward et al., 2016). Through the advent of new observing technologies for surface salinity and the efforts to merge salinity measurements with other observations and numerical models, salinity science and applications have significantly advanced over recent years, especially since the launch of SMOS, Aquarius, and SMAP (Vinogradova et al., 2019; Reul et al., 2020). The spatial resolution of these missions' SSS retrievals ranged from about 40 km to about 150 km. The ESA CIMR (Copernicus Imaging Microwave Radiometer) mission, to be launched in the 2028 timeframe, will ensure the continuity of SSS observations at about 60 km resolution. While the current generation of the L-band radiometer record provides an invaluable tool for exploring the Earth system, many critical science questions would benefit from higher-resolution observations of SSS.

4.1 Open Ocean Processes

4.1.1 Science Motivation and Goals

Understanding how oceanic elements of the energy, water, and carbon cycles will evolve in a changing climate and improving related climate model projections is crucial.

4.1.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

SSS spatial variability at scales smaller than the footprint of any current SSS satellites (at best ~40 km), called sub-footprint variability (SFV), is very difficult to measure due to the expense and logistical difficulty of deploying instrumentation at that scale in the ocean. However, it is an essential component of the error budget of these satellites. SFV has been estimated using many techniques: thermosalinograph measurements from volunteer observing ships, intensively sampled field campaigns, mooring data (equating time variability with spatial), and high-resolution ocean models (Drushka et al., 2019a; Bingham, 2019; D'Addezio et al., 2019; Bingham and Li, 2020; Bingham and Brodnitz, 2021; Bingham et al., 2021; Thouvenin-Masson et al., 2022). Preliminary calculation of SSS spatial scales supports the obvious conclusion that the observing system limits the observed scales. In other words, a significant portion of the SSS spatial variance spectrum critical for understanding mesoscale and submesoscale processes cannot be observed using today's technology (D'Addezio et al., 2019). The study of SFV has shown that it varies with location and season, generally being largest in the fall in both hemispheres (Bingham et al., 2021). This seasonality is opposite to that of other ocean variables, suggesting that small-scale variability is driven by processes other than mesoscale and submesoscale stirring, which tends to be largest in winter and early spring (Rocha et al., 2016). The most obvious source of variability in SSS is rainfall, which tends to be large in the fall season (Bingham et al., 2021) and usually has a small spatial scale, even in very rainy regions (Chkrebtii and Bingham, 2023). However, a direct connection between rainfall and SFV has not yet been established. Because of the short scales and stochastic nature of rainfall, along with the large spatial scales and steady nature of evaporation, rainfall is a likely source of the spatial variance in small-scale SSS

signals because it creates low-density fresh puddles underneath intense rain events (Drushka et al., 2016, 2019b). The impact of this spatial variance on upper ocean dynamics has not yet been studied and could make a fruitful area of research enhanced by high-resolution satellite measurements. Measurements of SSS at a 10 km scale could help tie the surface salinity to the global water cycle by better understanding the exchange of moisture/freshwater.

Variability in sea surface salinity (SSS) at scales of O(10km) is also commonly associated with internal oceanic processes, including eddies, fronts, filaments, and meandering currents (Bingham, 2019). These processes are believed to play a crucial role in connecting the dynamics of the mesoscale flow field, typically spanning 10 to 100 kilometers, to much finer-scale processes, typically ranging from 0.1 to 1 kilometer (Su et al., 2018). They impact dissipation and mixing in the surface layer and have far-reaching implications for a wide array of biological and biogeochemical processes within marine ecosystems, influencing the diverse species that inhabit them (Levy et al., 2012, 2013; Omand et al., 2015).

O(10km) processes exhibit horizontal dimensions smaller than the first baroclinic Rossby deformation radius within latitudes ranging from 60°S to 60°N. As a result, conventional geostrophic and quasi-geostrophic theories, predominantly governing larger and mesoscale ocean circulation, are not applicable. Unlike the smaller-scale phenomena (0.1–100 m), known for their fully three-dimensional and nonhydrostatic nature and their roles in mixing and energy dissipation (Marshall et al. 1997), the understanding of O(10km) processes lags behind. Their significance and dynamics have only begun to be recognized and studied recently (Boccaletti et al. 2007; Thomas et al. 2008; McWilliams 2017). Understanding salinity variations at the O(10km) scale requires bridging mesoscale processes with smaller scales. This linkage is being progressively uncovered through limited yet crucial measurements from modern autonomous in situ platforms (Timmermans and Winsor 2012; Swart et al. 2020) and intensive experiments such as S-MODE (Submesoscale Ocean Dynamics Experiment; Farrar et al., 2020), highlighting the emerging understanding of O(10km) scale processes.

Recent studies utilized satellite and surface forcing data at 25 km resolution, along with saildrone measurements at 300 m resolution, to explore how small-scale salinity and temperature fronts influence surface density and respond to wind and buoyancy forces (Vazquez-Cuervo et al., 2020). These studies reveal density compensation between SST and SSS across scales from submesoscale to basin-wide, achieving full compensation at scales of 10 km or smaller (Ruddick and Ferrari 1999). This compensation neutralizes the individual impacts on density, erasing lateral density gradients and is often associated with submesoscale restratification through mechanisms like frontal slumping and surface-layer instabilities leading to vertical mixing (Ferrari and Ruddick 2000; Hosegood et al. 2006). The universality of this restratification across different frontal conditions remains an open question, as the level of the temperature-salinity compensation can differ based on location, season, and the mixed-layer depth. Given that climate models are unlikely to resolve submesoscale dynamics in the near term, the incorporation of these processes through parameterization becomes essential (Fox-Kemper et al. 2008). Additionally, the recent findings highlight the significant role of heat and freshwater exchanges at the air-sea interface, especially through Ekman convergence near western boundary currents, in the formation of fronts. Saildrone data also show that high winds and increased turbulent heat loss conditions tend to reduce strong density gradients, pointing to the critical influence of surface forcing in modulating salinity/temperature gradients. However, the specific nature and mechanisms of air-sea interaction at scales of O(10km) remain to be fully understood. The intricate submesoscale processes in driving essential ecological and environmental

interactions in the ocean have also been discussed (Jaeger and Mahadevan 2018). L-band observations at a 10-km resolution would offer unparalleled insights into submesoscale dynamics, significantly enhancing our capability to observe, model, and forecast these essential processes.

4.1.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

Revisit times for current satellite SSS missions are around 3 days over the equatorial ocean, with exact repeats over 7-9 days. Practically, the publication of high level SSS products with 7-9 day cadence from current missions is motivated by sensitivity requirements. For open ocean applications, at 10 km spatial resolution, this frequency is expected to be adequate to characterize the mesoscale surface salinity field. However, it would not be adequate to observe the submesoscale field, which evolves more quickly. This could lead to aliasing of the small-scale, rapid processes into large scale processes. More analysis needs to be done to better understand and define the need for shorter revisit times than what's currently available.

In designing a satellite mission there is always a tradeoff between revisit time and space resolution. Compared to the current missions, an improvement in spatial resolution is expected to be more valuable than improvement in time resolution for studying open ocean processes.

4.2 Coastal Processes

4.2.1 Science Motivation and Goals

There are certain societal needs to understand how coastal watersheds and their ecosystems will evolve in a changing climate and to improve climate model projections for these coastal changes.

4.2.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

The move to 10 km spatial resolution for coastal sea surface salinity (SSS) observations would greatly enhance remote sensing science and application capabilities, allowing improved understanding of how coastal waters are influenced by terrestrial freshwater, nutrient, and carbon fluxes as well as by exchange with the adjoining shelf seas and open ocean. Given the ongoing and expected future increases in hydrological cycling (Held and Solden, 2006), coastal communities are already anticipating significant changes in freshwater inflow and sea level with their related impacts on the ecosystem, economy, and coastal hazards. Salinity is an extremely useful passive tracer for these processes in coastal waters at spatial scales of 5-10 km and there have been numerous remote sensing studies using surface salinity proxies such as ocean color and surface temperature to illustrate this point (Decastillo and Miller, 2008; Fournier et al., 2015; Song et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2018). Moreover, because of larger temporal and spatial salinity changes that occur across the coastal zone, the L-band SSS measurement precision requirements can often be relaxed to levels near 0.5 psu even in cold water regions (Grodsky et al., 2018). Data-assimilating coastal ocean circulation models are also calling for higher resolution (2-10 km) SSS observations that can match their increasing resolution and that would provide a much-needed complement to the cloud- and air-sea flux impacted satellite sea surface temperature (SST) data. Adding 10 km SSS data would lead to locally improved ocean current and state predictions and improved global diagnosis of remote water mass advection associated with equatorward freshwater fluxes due to expected changes in pan-Arctic sea ice. In concert with ocean color, SST, and other key NASA coastal datasets, the data would

fundamentally alter our ability to monitor land-ocean exchanges of carbon, nutrients, and freshwater from key rivers within the earth system (Fournier and Lee, 2021). Given the close relationship between salinity and ocean carbonate system change in coastal oceans, 10 km resolution SSS data could also help to better identify regions impacted by ocean acidification change due to upwelling or riverine water masses (Salisbury et al., 2015; Schulz et al., 2019). A critical facet of the 'all-weather' multi-frequency microwave radiometer measurements from L- to C- to X-band (cf. Montero et al., 2023) would be the ability to measure coastal SSS and SST in many commonly cloud-covered coastal zone regions. Finally, many coastal applications would benefit, including harmful algal bloom prediction, coastal hazards including tropical cyclone forecasts, ecosystem modeling, local eutrophication, flooding impacts, and fisheries management.

4.2.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

The smaller processes that could be observed using salinity observations at the coast occur at time scales larger than inertial (e.g., tides, coastally trapped waves, etc.). A 1-day repeat for SSS satellite observations would satisfy the majority of coastal ocean needs. Weekly observations (similar to the open ocean) would still allow to study most of the coastal ocean processes even if some processes associated with river discharge and upwelling events could benefit from higher revisit time (3 days and shorter).

4.3 Polar Processes

4.3.1 Science Motivation and Goals

There is a need to understand and predict high latitude ocean changes in response to a warming climate and to improve related climate model projections. Brightness temperature measurements have proven to be useful in polar studies, see Chapter 5. In addition, the limited SMAP radar observations demonstrated their utility in polar ice studies. Recent studies (e.g., Long and Miller, 2023; Miller et al., 2023, Long et al., 2023) have demonstrated that when multiple passes are combined, reconstruction techniques can provide enhanced-resolution brightness temperature and backscatter maps with a tradeoff of temporal and spatial resolution. With an effective resolution of ~30 km, the utility of the enhanced resolution SMAP products reinforce the need for finer resolution observations.

4.3.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

In the past decades, the high-latitude oceans have undergone dramatic changes that have global implications (Maslanik et al., 2011; Kwok et al., 2009; McPhee et al., 2009). It is, therefore, important to better understand high latitude processes and their forcing mechanisms. Salinity is a key variable in the Arctic Ocean as it controls the stratification and seawater density and might influence sea ice melting and formation (Aagaard et al., 1981; Carmack et al., 2015). Satellite observations of SSS are crucial, especially in the Arctic Ocean, as in situ measurements are particularly sparse there. Even if the sensitivity of L-band brightness temperature to salinity is strongly decreased in cold waters (Swift and McIntosh, 1983; Yueh et al., 2001), satellites can still capture the prominent SSS gradient signals observed in the Arctic Ocean (Fournier et al., 2019). Current SSS observations from SMOS, SMAP, and Aquarius have a large footprint (40-100 km), rendering the retrieval of SSS that close to sea ice edge

challenging. Sea ice patches contaminate the brightness temperature signal, making retrieval difficult or impossible. Also, current satellites do not capture the submesoscale salinity gradients observed due to their large footprint. Higher resolution observations would allow retrieving SSS closer to sea ice to minimize the errors due to sea ice contamination within the footprint and to better capture submesoscale signals (fronts and eddies). However, no matter the resolution, SSS retrievals in cold waters at high latitudes are challenging due to the reduced sensitivity of salinity to brightness temperature. Simultaneous C, X, and K-band measurements are therefore necessary to improve the SSS retrieval by better estimating winds (roughness), SST, and sea ice concentration (Kilic et al., 2018).

4.3.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

Because of the dynamic nature of the abovementioned processes, a daily to sub-daily revisit time is critical. However, the likeliest orbit configuration for a mission considered here has a polar orbiting satellite, providing an enhanced number of observations for polar areas, likely meeting the requirements.

4.4 SSS Retrieval Considerations

There are several challenges to retrieving SSS from L-band brightness temperature measurements. (1) As mentioned above, there is a drop in sensitivity in cold water at L-band (Swift and McIntosh, 1983), equating to a much lower dynamic range and increasing noise contribution (the sensitivity increases at lower frequency). (2) The measurements can be contaminated by land and sea ice. (3) There are several physical contributors to the L-band brightness temperature signal other than SSS, including ambiguity in temperature, ocean wind roughening, and reflected galactic emission. To retrieve SSS from the current platforms (SMAP and SMOS), it is necessary to use ancillary data, including retrospective analyses and non-collocated observations. The deviations of ancillary parameters from truth introduce errors in the SSS retrieval (Le Vine et al., 2005; Meissner et al., 2014; Le Vine et al., 2007). Additionally, radio frequency interference (RFI) degrades the capacity for SSS measurements in the vicinity of coastal cities. In spite of all these difficulties, SSS can be successfully recovered from satellite observations for most of the ocean at 40 km spatial resolution with 0.1-0.3 psu sensitivity and 7-9 day cadences.

From a sensitivity perspective, improvement in spatial resolution comes at the cost of poorer sensitivity per pixel, assuming a fixed dwell time over a resolved scene. Improvements in spatial resolution at the same sensitivity/revisit cadence, therefore, require improvements in receiver sensitivity. This can be accomplished by careful engineering towards the theoretical noise limits or perhaps incorporating active cooling of critical receiver components. Since radiometer sensitivity improves with the root of observing bandwidth, one option is to employ a wideband radiometer system spanning the microwave P- and L-bands (Johnson et al., 2021). This would have the added benefit of observing at wavelengths where sensitivity to SSS is inherently improved (Le Vine and Dinnat, 2022). However, the impact of RFI on wideband measurements is considerably greater than within the protected 1.400-1427 GHz frequency band. This could be mitigated somewhat by employing highly channelized spectrometer systems and dynamic RFI excision algorithms. If the impact of RFI can be managed, wideband L-band radiometry has the potential to significantly improve SSS retrievals. For missions adhering to conventional aperture designs, the associated

improvements in sensitivity would enable 0.1-0.3 psu sensitivity in polar oceans over 7-9 day periods and similar sensitivity over lower-latitude oceans with single looks (Akins et al. 2023). For highresolution observations, wideband systems could afford the necessary sensitivity/revisit balance with otherwise equivalent receiver noise characteristics.

Another way to overcome the reliance on ancillary data is to concurrently measure SST, SSS, seaice concentration, and wind speed. Wind speed is highly variable compared to SSS; therefore, matchups of non-collocated measurements (e.g., using AMSR) likely offer marginal benefit over using forecast/reanalysis ancillary products. Ku- and Ka-band radiometer and scatterometer systems could retrieve wind speed and direction, as well as SST and sea ice concentration, with sufficient accuracy for accurate SSS retrieval. The ESA CIMR mission will be the first platform to collect collocated L-Ka radiometry measurements, demonstrating the impact of reduced ancillary product dependence. By measuring SST, SSS, sea-ice concentration, and wind speed concurrently, CIMR should allow more accurate SSS measurements than current platforms, not only at lower latitudes but also in the polar ocean (Jiménez et al., 2021; Kilic et al., 2018). Wideband L-band systems could also leverage the spectral dependences of SSS and SST/wind signatures to compensate for ancillary biases (Akins et al., 2023), albeit their sensitivity is less than that of higher frequency systems.

5 Cryosphere

5.1 Sea Ice (Sea Ice Thickness)

5.1.1 Science Motivation

The heat exchange between the ocean and the atmosphere in polar regions is mainly controlled by sea ice distribution. Thinner ice, measuring less than half a meter in thickness, plays a dominant role in this heat exchange process, and it has the potential to influence weather and climate. For instance, in Antarctica, polynyas, areas of open water surrounded by sea ice, and thin sea ice, play a crucial role in sea ice production and deep water formation, making them particularly significant for global overturning circulation.

5.1.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

The brightness temperature data from SMOS has a footprint size of approximately 35–40 km in diameter. While this resolution is relatively coarse, it already allows for detecting larger polynyas. However, polynyas are often smaller or similar to the size of the SMOS footprint. For more precise observation of coastal polynyas and other mesoscale ocean-ice phenomena, a higher spatial resolution with frequent temporal coverage is required, ideally with measurements taken at least twice daily.

5.1.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

Observations once per day are typically sufficient for general monitoring and understanding longterm changes in sea ice thickness. This frequency allows for tracking the sea ice growth, seasonal patterns, and interannual variability of sea ice thickness, aiding in the study of long-term trends and the impact of climate change. However, more frequent observations are necessary for detailed process studies that focus on the dynamics of, e.g., polynya formation, evolution, and disappearance, including the effects of atmospheric and oceanic processes such as winds and tides. Ideally, observations every few hours would provide valuable insights into diurnal variations and short-term changes, offering a more comprehensive understanding of such processes.

5.1.4 Sea Ice Thickness Retrieval Considerations

The uniqueness of the L-band radiometry is that it can resolve the sea ice thickness up to about 1 m in depth based on the increase of TB from the open ocean value when sea ice covers the ocean (Kaleschke et al., 2010). When the ice thickness is more than about 1 m, the TB saturates (the higher frequencies saturate at significantly lower ice depth, which does not allow resolving the thickness). The retrieval is based on relating the TB value to a thickness value under certain assumptions of the sea ice composition. Non-uniformity of the sea ice thickness, sea-ice composition, and sea ice edges all introduce errors to the retrieval. A smaller footprint has an inherent benefit compared to a larger footprint in mitigating these errors. The retrieval can exploit L-band TB measurements at vertical and horizontal polarizations, ranging over 150 K (depending on the polarization). The large TB range makes the retrieval relatively insensitive to the measurement noise, beneficial in reaching for higher

spatial resolution because that tends to come with higher measurement noise, all other factors being equal.

5.2 Ice Sheet Melt (Liquid Water Content)

A substantial fraction of the meltwater generated at the surface of the snow/firn layer on ice sheets does not escape. Instead, it is retained after infiltrating into the cold pore space of the underlying snow/firn. The infiltrated meltwater alters the physical density and thermal structure of the firn layer, thereby impacting subsequent infiltration processes. As a result, delineating locations where meltwater either runs off or is retained can be problematic, particularly as the firn layer evolves under changing climate conditions. Satellite retrieval of liquid water content based on L-band radiometry potentially provides much-needed observational constraints on these processes. Widespread and frequent satellite observations of liquid water content have the potential to serve as validation for regional climate model assessments of meltwater generation. Furthermore, observational information may be used to constrain the transformation of the physical structure of firn and its ability to absorb future meltwater. These constraints are particularly important to the processes in Greenland's percolation zone and the ice shelves of Antarctica. The spatial gradients of these processes in both locations are such that a 10 km resolution of liquid water retrievals would improve future satellite microwave radiometer investigations.

5.2.1 Science Motivation and Goals

Successful adaptation and mitigation of rising sea level demands improved constraints on emerging ice sheet processes controlling the magnitude and rate of sea level change in a warming climate. Therefore, it is essential to enhance the confidence in quantitative assessments of present-day ice sheet mass balance arising from meltwater generation and refine the explicit treatment of meltwater refreezing in firn densification models to evaluate the time evolution of runoff/retention and surface elevation change. This calls for an observationally based assessment of the daily to seasonal and 10-km scale distribution of meltwater generation across ice sheets' snow/firn-covered regions. Observations are needed to independently evaluate regional climate model-based meltwater products and to provide an observationally based assessment of in situ liquid water content in snow/firn at a 10-km scale and time scales ranging from hours to days. Observations are also needed to drive models of firn evolution for assessments of surface ice elevation change and subsequent meltwater retention.

Furthermore, meltwater storage and stability analyses need mapping of the location and time evolution of firn aquifers on ice sheets and ice shelves, requiring observations at a 10-km scale at seasonal time scales. Information on the location and time changes of firn aquifers is necessary for improvements in assessments of ice sheet hydrology, mass balance, and the stability of some ice shelves (Miller et al., 2020; 2022a; 2022b; 2023).

5.2.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

The melt/refreeze processes in Greenland change across several km scales (forced by atmospheric conditions and altitude changes); the current resolution does not have the fidelity to capture them, while a 10-km resolution would allow their meaningful representation. The firn aquifer sizes vary widely. In general, the 10-km resolution would not be adequate for their exact geographic

delineation, but the improved resolution would have two notable benefits. First, obviously, locating firn aquifers with a 10-km resolution is more accurate than with a 40-km resolution. Secondly, the sensitivity of the detection and classification is substantially improved as the presumably sub-footprint aquifer will have a larger relative impact on the measured signal.

5.2.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

Total liquid water content in the snow and firn needs to be measured twice a day to identify the diurnal melt/refreeze cycle and at least four times a day to characterize the amplitude and duration of the cycle. The depth distribution of the liquid water content is needed at least daily.

The spatial extent of fully saturated firn is needed at weekly to annual time scales, depending on the context of the aquifer.

5.2.4 Liquid Water Content Retrieval Considerations

Several recent studies have established the capability of L-band radiometry to retrieve liquid water content of ice sheets (Houtz et al., 2019; 2021; Leduc-Leballeur et al., 2020; Mousavi et al., 2021; 2022), while the higher frequencies have been used for ice sheet surface melt detection for decades (e.g., Zwally and Fiegels, 1994; Mote and Anderson, 1995; Abdalati and Steffen, 1995; Das and Alley, 2003; Liu et al., 2005; Fettweis et al., 2006; Tedesco, 2007; 2009; Colosio et al., 2020; Husman et al., 2023). Multi-frequency passive microwave measurements in the 1.4 GHz to 37 GHz range can distinguish seasonal meltwater between the immediate surface and the deeper firn layers (Colliander et al., 2022b). Studies show that the frequency-dependent response is consistent across the ice sheets (Colliander al et., 2023b). The multi-frequency melt indications match with lasting seasonal subsurface meltwater, with delayed refreezing compared to the surface. However, the L-band measurement is the only frequency band that can effectively discriminate between different levels of meltwater, while the higher frequencies lose sensitivity and saturate with more modest meltwater levels (e.g., Colliander et al., 2022b).

5.3 Ice Sheet Temperature (Temperature Profile)

A strong consensus exists among current studies that mass loss from glaciers and ice sheets will continue to raise global mean sea level in upcoming decades-to-centuries under modeled future climate scenarios. Nevertheless, a large degree of uncertainty surrounds potential contributions from ice sheets, with very large and rapid contributions plausible. The uncertainty stems from a lack of comprehensive understanding of ice flow dynamics, partly related to ice sheet interactions with the ocean and partly related to internal and basal ice flow processes. A key component of the latter part is the internal ice sheet temperature that influences the ice rheology and, thus ice deformation rate. Further, the internal ice temperature field can characterize the basal thermal state, thus identifying locations where melted bed conditions can lead to high rates and accelerations of sliding motion. Up to now, in situ measurements of the temperature profile are available from only a few boreholes. Ice sheet flow models that fully couple thermodynamic and mechanical processes thus suffer from a lack of observational constraints. Since the internal ice temperature is a fundamental state variable in models of ice flow dynamics, field observations would transform model assessment and model performance.

5.3.1 Science Motivation and Goals

Successful adaptation and mitigation of rising sea level demands improved constraints on emerging ice sheet processes controlling the magnitude and rate of sea level change in a warming climate; therefore, it is important to incorporate widespread observations of the internal ice temperature into thermo-mechanical modeling of ice flow dynamics. This would be satisfied with an observationally-based assessment of the internal ice temperature field, including depth variability of ice 1-3 km thick at a 10-km resolution. Observed ice temperature information is needed to improve constraints in ice flow models on ice flow by deformation and basal conditions.

5.3.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

A higher spatial resolution at L-band (i.e., on the order of 10 km) will allow for a better representation of the effects of the underlying topography or variability across ice shelves, increasing the accuracy in temperature retrieval.

5.3.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

The temperature profile of ice sheets is a slow-changing process that needs to be mapped once in decadal scales to answer the science questions above.

5.3.4 Temperature Profile Retrieval Considerations

Recently, Macelloni et al. (2019) performed the first retrieval of the ice sheet temperature in Antarctica by using the L-band observations from the European Space Agency (ESA)'s Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity (SMOS) and a glaciological model. This is made possible due to the large penetration in the dry snow and ice at the L-band of several hundreds of meters. The retrieval algorithm has been recently improved by using a new minimization method based on Bayesian inference from SMOS observations and microwave emission model simulations and a more advanced glaciological model to represent the temperature profiles (GRISLI, Quiquet et al., 2018). The method was first validated in the available boreholes having different temperature profile types and then temperature maps of whole Antarctica (excluding coastal regions) at different depths were produced. The measurement accuracy typically remains below 2 K for depths up to 2000 m and increases as a function of depth (e.g. ~5 K at 3200 m at Dome C). The methodology was tested in Antarctica and then will be applied to Greenland. The continuity of L-band measurements is fundamental to monitoring possible variability, especially in coastal regions and on ice shelves where the method will be tested in the future.

5.4 Land Surface (Freeze/Thaw and Temperature)

Frozen conditions significantly affect over half of global lands and their eco-hydrology (Kim et al., 2017). However, the annual frozen season is shrinking due to global warming and fundamentally altering ecosystems adapted to colder climates (Kim et al. 2012, Zhu et al. 2019, Li et al. 2021). The rate of frozen season decline is greatest in the high northern latitudes (HNL) where the climate is warming at more than four times the mean global rate (Rantanen et al., 2022). Eco-hydrological impacts from HNL warming and shorter frozen seasons include extensive permafrost thawing, which

may reinforce global warming by reducing the northern carbon sink for atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) and methane (CH₄) released from fossil fuel burning (Schuur et al. 2022). Satellite microwave remote sensing is strongly sensitive to landscape freeze-thaw (FT) transitions, while the low to moderate frequencies available from many polar orbiting microwave sensors have the potential for near-daily FT monitoring under day/night and nearly all-weather conditions. However, the current generation of satellite sensors is unable to fully capture FT complexity due to sub-optimal spectral, spatial, or temporal coverage (Podest et al. 2014, Du et al. 2014, Johnston et al. 2021).

5.4.1 Science Motivation and Goals

The feedback between cold regions and the climate system in a warming world must be solved. To accomplish this, we need to understand the CO₂ and CH₄ annual budgets in heterogeneous boreal and Arctic environments with changes in land surface energy/water budgets and boundary layer conditions related to an extended thaw period. The relative stability and rate of thawing and deepening of the active layer overlying permafrost is closely tied to FT timing and the non-frozen season duration (Park et al., 2016). With the enhanced rate of polar warming, the frozen season is rapidly shrinking and promoting widespread permafrost thawing and active layer deepening. The longer and deeper soil thaw season increasingly exposes the vast global reservoir of soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestered over millennia in permafrost soils to enhanced decomposition and greenhouse gas emissions (primarily CO_2 and CH_4), which could reinforce global warming (Schuur et al. 2022). The frozen season effectively bounds the potential growing season and the availability of soil moisture, strongly affecting evapotranspiration, vegetation productivity, soil litter decomposition and respiration, and net ecosystem carbon sequestration (see section 8). Moreover, the unique thermal insulation capacity of snow can effectively decouple soils from the surface and lower atmosphere and enable the persistence of thawed soil conditions (i.e., the zero-curtain) that can sustain microbial SOC decomposition and respiration processes well into the effective winter frozen season (Natali et al, 2019; Mavrovic et al, 2023). The resulting heterogeneity in FT timing and progression along vegetation and soil gradients can lead to asynchronous behavior in photosynthetic carbon uptake and soil decomposition and respiration carbon release, which can alter net carbon sink activity and the seasonal cycle of atmospheric CO₂ (Parazoo et al. 2018, Liu et al. 2019).

There is an urgent need to clarify the nature and complexity of FT cycles and their influence on soil moisture and other ecosystem processes to improve our capacity to fully quantify CO₂ and CH₄ budgets and understand the role of the HNL in the climate system. Global FT environmental data records (EDRs) have been constructed from similar higher frequency (~37 GHz) satellite microwave radiometers, including SMMR, SSM/I, and AMSR-E/2 (Kim et al. 2017). These records span many decades, providing a relatively precise record of FT climate trends. However, the ~12-25 km spatial resolution of these observations is too coarse to resolve the characteristic finer scale FT heterogeneity affecting HNL ecosystem processes (Podest et al. 2014), while the higher frequency retrievals also lack sensitivity to soil conditions. The SMAP mission provides a global operational FT record, with L-band radiometer enhanced FT sensitivity to near-surface soils and 1-3 day repeat sampling, but with a coarse (~40-km) sensor footprint (Derksen et al. 2017). Other available L-band radiometers offer similar capacity and limitations for FT mapping. Moreover, the prevailing coarse footprint and single frequency FT records generally provide a bulk binary classification of the predominant frozen or thawed condition within a grid cell that fails to resolve sub-grid level FT complexity among vegetation, snow, and soil features, or non-linear variations in residual liquid

water content and permittivity that occur during FT transitions. The above technical constraints and knowledge gaps could be significantly mitigated by a next-generation L-band radiometer, with additional value gained by the combined use of higher frequency TB, radar, and other complementary observations.

5.4.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

HNL environments are highly heterogeneous landscapes composed of forest/tundra, wetlands, and lakes. Lakes and wetlands have strong contrasting microwave emission signatures making it difficult to perform accurate retrievals within 40 km pixels, where the disentanglement of the different contributing features is difficult and brings high uncertainties. A 10-km brightness temperature product will increase the number of pixels where the lake and wetland fractions are low enough to perform reliable retrievals, including in coastal regions. Whereas the current 40-km capability is sufficient to distinguish FT gradients across major biomes, the finer 10-km sampling would provide 16-fold improved information content to distinguish FT differences among individual ecoregions and landforms. Combined observations from L-band and higher frequency TB or active microwave (SAR) retrievals offer the potential for even finer scale FT delineations closer to the level of local landscape variability by exploiting the complimentary FT sensitivity and finer spatial feature information from the higher frequency channels.

5.4.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

The FT retrieval would highly benefit from a constant revisit time twice a day with pre-dawn and midday passes to capture diurnal patterns in heating and cooling. The daily revisit and diurnal sampling are also needed to capture both the timing of seasonal FT transitions bounding potential growing seasons and transient thaw/refreeze and frost events affecting vegetation growth, surface soil, and snow conditions.

5.4.4 Freeze/Thaw, Vegetation Change, and Temperature Retrieval Considerations

In the last few years, L-band microwave studies have led to the understanding that FT processes, from an ecological point of view, are not strictly binary. For example, in the shoulder season, latent heat release related to freezing or thawing of water in the soil can maintain the presence of unfrozen soil water near 0°C for up to several weeks or more, leading to a gradual FT signal seen by L-Band (Prince et al. 2019). Also, vegetation spring recovery from winter dormancy is not a binary process as well, where trees will generally start a rehydration phase before starting photosynthesis. Temporal lags in FT cycles can also occur between above-ground vegetation and underlying soil conditions due to the insulating capacity of organic soil and snow layers (Roy et al. 2017; Yi et al. 2019; Roy et al. 2020). Hence, the combination of the L-band with other complimentary microwave frequencies and sensors (e.g., SAR, optical, etc.) could help to resolve spatial and vertical FT gradients over the soil-snow-vegetation continuum (Bateni et al. 2013, Podest et al. 2014, Donahue et al. 2023). Spatially nested sampling from the combined observations temporally collocated within narrow early morning and mid-day sampling windows is needed to minimize cross-sensor noise effects stemming from footprint mismatch and diurnal drift in daily heating and cooling.

As dry snow has low impact on L-band signature (Lemmetyinen et al. 2016), there is potential for retrieving other soil characteristics under the snow in winter. Studies using AMSR low frequency have

shown the potential of microwave to retrieve soil temperature under snow in Arctic environments (Marchand et al. 2018; Kohn and Royer 2010). Considering that frozen soil permittivity does not change during Arctic cold winter, the main contributor to soil brightness temperature at L-Band should be soil temperature, allowing retrieval of this important variable for winter soil carbon emission.

6 Hydrology (Soil Moisture)

6.1 Science Motivation and Goals

6.1.1 Irrigation

Humans influence their microclimate and regional climate through interventions such as irrigation and land use change which affect landscape water balance and ability to forecast it (Qian et al. 2013; Lawston et al. 2017). Use of remote data to develop crop yield forecasts promotes food security and its management. Irrigation water use is growing worldwide, and agricultural water use is no longer sustainable in a large number of vital agricultural regions. More accurate seasonal crop development forecasts require continuous observations of SM. Observations of the growth in global irrigated agriculture require an observational SM time series.

Only when observational SM at high resolutions is used with statistical governmental census/survey information and other ancillary satellite observations will crop-specific early seasonal and during-season warnings and predictions become possible. Such observational warnings using remote sensing observations will lead to better water use and irrigation scheduling. L-band observations have proven useful in detecting large-scale irrigation patterns (Lawston et al. 2017). Increased spatial resolution will enable monitoring of smaller-scale irrigation, enhancing the utility of remotely sensed SM for water management and data assimilation (DA) and understanding the downwind impacts on precipitation recycling.

6.1.2 Floods and Antecedent Land Surface Conditions

Antecedent land surface controls on short-duration/high-intensity flood events are complex and poorly understood due to existing observational gaps. Pre-storm SM represents the single largest factor determining infiltration of rainfall water and thus the efficiency with which rainfall is translated into streamflow (Koster et al. 2023). As a result, remotely sensed estimates of pre-storm surface SM are highly predictive of subsequent storm-scale runoff efficiency (Crow et al., 2017). Classically, hydrologists have assumed that the importance of pre-storm SM conditions will tend to decrease as rainfall intensively increases. However, recent work has underscored the importance of pre-storm SM as a detectable precursor to even exceptional large-scale flooding events (Tramblay et al., 2021). However, at finer space and time scales associated with flash flood events, the role of pre-storm SM remains poorly understood. This has implications for stormwater management and engineering design.

6.1.3 Land-Atmosphere Flux Rate and its Relation to Soil Moisture

There is a large variation in future water cycle projections. This variation is largely due to how different models treat functional relationships, or their link between model states and fluxes as described in model physics. Remote sensing data can be used to benchmark land surface models and address systematic errors in their representation of land surface state/flux coupling. New and continued satellite records can be optimized to answer the questions: What are the relationships between land surface states (SM and temperature) and surface exchanges with the atmosphere?

How do vegetation, soil texture, and microclimate conditions modulate these limitations? How can we develop observation-based benchmarks of these relationships to validate model outputs?

6.1.4 Soil Moisture and the Planetary Boundary Layer

Extreme events and processes that lead to them are influenced by advection as well as local interactions. The spatial organization of surface boundary conditions modulates how these factors combine to lead to extreme events. Related science questions have spatial resolution requirements that are challenging to meet with current remote sensing systems. How does patchiness of vegetation cover and SM trigger 1) planetary boundary layer growth, 2) mesoscale circulation, and 3) moist convection? To what degree does soil water limitation influence climate variability and extremes? How do land-atmosphere interactions sustain or inhibit extreme events?

6.1.5 Water and Carbon Cycle in Changing Climate

Is the water cycle accelerating? How much of the changes in the Precipitation minus Evapotranspiration (P-E) are due to changes in precipitation (warming and Clausius-Clapeyron), and how much is due to changes in evapotranspiration (greening and CO2 enrichment)? What are the global trends in precipitation extremes?

The water cycle and its links to the carbon cycle over forests are among the influential contributors to the future carbon budget. Do forests change their carbon source/sink due to water limitation? Is there a 'forest drought'? Surface emissivity knowledge afforded by L-band radiometry may significantly help improve the interpretation of SAR data for canopy structure and above-ground biomass (AGB) estimation.

Wildfires are increasingly playing important roles in the carbon budget, air and water quality, and replenishment of water reservoirs. How do soil and vegetation water content dynamics lead to increased wildfire risk? How does landscape hydrology change post-wildfire?

Deforestation is now affecting climate and climate change on a hemispheric scale rather than a regional scale. How does deforestation affect the surface water and energy balance in deforested (and possibly burned) areas, and how does it affect the adjacent non-deforested regions through local atmospheric circulations and advection?

6.1.6 Islands, Sea-level Rise, and Coastal Areas

Sea-level rise will disrupt coastal areas that are among the Earth's most productive and populated regions. What is the landscape hydrology surrounding coastal ecosystems, wetlands, deltas, and mangroves? How will the mean sea level rise and variability influence coastal infrastructure?

Islands play an underestimated role in ocean circulation, and storms that originate over oceans and affect coastal and land communities. How does the hydrology of islands and coastal areas affect oceanic and atmospheric dynamics that influence weather forecast skill?

Increasing the spatial resolution of the L-band will allow for observations closer to the complex land/ocean interface and increase the number of islands with feasible L-band retrievals.

6.1.7 Droughts and Heatwaves

The frequency, intensity, and spatial-temporal evolution of droughts and heatwaves will change with global climate and land cover changes (e.g. Miralles et al., 2019). Mitigation of societal impacts related to droughts and heatwaves requires observations across the drought cascade (meteorological to hydrological, agricultural droughts to societal droughts). These observations should address the question: "How do patterns and dynamics of SM as well as vegetation responses to hydrometeorology drive drought evolution and expansion?", quantify how the lag and intensity of droughts cascade from precipitation to SM to vegetation water content in different vegetation types/in different landscape settings, and test the hypothesis: "stomatal closure in response to increases in VPD has a greater effect on drought evolution than soil type does".

6.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

Spatial resolution plays a critical role in a number of the terrestrial hydrology science questions raised above. Critically, due to the nonlinear nature of processes connecting soil moisture and terrestrial water fluxes (e.g., evapotranspiration and runoff), understanding the relationship between terrestrial water states and fluxes requires that we observationally resolve as much underlying SM variability as possible (Vergopolan et al., 2022). A global 10-km SM data product represents a major step in this direction.

Likewise, hydrological hazards are often associated with a particular time/scale. Flash-flood events are commonly defined as having time scales of < 1 hr – roughly corresponding to the hydrologic response time of basins < 100 km² in size (Creutin, 2013). Due to the difficulty in issuing adequate warnings at such short time scales, flash flood events in basins of this size are responsible for a significant fraction of total flooding casualties. Improving the spatial resolution of satellite soil moisture products to 10 km would enable an improved understanding of land surface factors contributing to the intensity of such high-impact events.

Likewise, existing land surface models are typically run at a spatial resolution much closer to 10 km than 40 km, and most operational NWP models and their land surface components already run between 1-10 km. For example, NASA GSFC's NLDAS-2 project resolution is run on a ¹/₈ degree resolution (i.e. slightly coarser than 10 km at mid-latitudes). Matching the spatial resolution of land models, as well as their ancillary (and satellite-driven) datasets including land cover, soil type, and vegetation characteristics, would increase the value of remotely sensed soil moisture for model diagnostic, assimilation, and validation purposes.

Finally, both boundary layer and runoff response are often sensitive to the particular spatial distribution of soil moisture across a landscape. For example, the spatial connectivity of high soil moisture patterns plays a significant role in determining the storm-scale hydrologic response of the land surface (Western et al., 2001). Likewise, the boundary-layer response to soil moisture variations is often sensitive to the heterogeneity and spatial gradients of soil moisture and length-scale of soil moisture anomalies (Huang and Margulis, 2013). In order to examine such sensitivity, explicit spatial mapping of soil moisture anomalies is required at the highest possible spatial resolution.

Furthermore, it is acknowledged that a wide range of applications for which 10-km resolution is insufficient, and downscaling strategies by merging with higher-resolution data will be necessary. However, increasing the native resolution is also essential for these applications because it has been

shown that the quality of a 1 km downscaled dataset increases by 50-100 % when starting at a native resolution of 10 km as compared to starting at 40 km (Rodriguez-Fernandez et al., 2024).

6.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

One of the most surprising scientific insights provided by the SMAP and SMOS missions has been the degree to which SM retrievals can be used to map large-scale variations in land surface hydrology regimes (e.g., drying stages characterized by nonlinear variations in the dominant soil moisture loss mechanism) - see, e.g., Akbar et al. (2019). Further study of these transitions, and their impact on local hydroclimate, will require a continued commitment to sub-weekly temporal mapping of SM. In addition, improved mapping of rapid regime transitions immediately following rain events would be enabled by the availability of daily data.

In addition, high temporal repetition significantly improves the accuracy of Water Balance Equation (WBE) parameters, which are vital for comprehending terrestrial water cycles and reducing biases in estimates of effective hydrologic depth (ΔZ), as discussed by Kim and Crow (2023). This addresses the challenges arising from limited temporal repeats and the accuracy of satellite-based SM retrieval systems, thereby diminishing uncertainties in hydrologic models. The need for high-frequency SM data aligns with the scientific insights revealed by the SMAP and SMOS missions. Detailed temporal mapping is crucial for enhancing our understanding of hydrological transitions and their effects on local hydroclimates, emphasizing the pivotal role of advanced remote sensing techniques in deepening our understanding of the terrestrial water cycle.

6.4 Soil Moisture Retrieval Considerations

In the decade and a half from the launch of the first L-band sensor there have continued to be developments in retrievals based on higher frequency microwave channels. To optimally leverage L-band radiometry for the applications listed above, it is incumbent on the community to find ways to better utilize these multi-frequency observations within the core of L-band SM retrievals and minimize reliance on modeled or non-coincident information. For example, advances in passive microwave LST retrievals (Prigent et al 2016, Holmes et al 2015, 2018) could be incorporated in SM retrievals to account for separate soil and canopy temperatures. All the temporal information needed to model deeper soil layers needed for effective temperature is contained in a diurnal temperature product. Similarly, advances in VOD retrieval and complementary biomass structure information (see 8.4) will allow the retrieval algorithms to move beyond 0th order tau-omega radiative transfer models by accounting for vegetation height and variations in the single scattering albedo. A more detailed accounting of spatial dynamics in temperature and vegetation within an L-band pixel will in turn facilitate applications that require tracking of temporal variations in soil moisture at the 10 km resolution.

7 Atmosphere: Convective Initiation (Soil Moisture)

Tornadoes occur on spatiotemporal timescales on the order of 100s of m and 10s of s to 10s of min. It is well known that the majority of tornadoes, and particularly the majority of strong to violent tornadoes, are formed by supercell thunderstorms. These storms have unique structures and dynamics that favor tornado production over other storm modes, with both storm-scale and environmental factors impacting the likelihood of tornadogenesis. Past work has found that the lifted condensation level (LCL) height and the magnitude of low-level (0-1 km) convective available potential energy (CAPE) are among several skillful parameters for discriminating between tornadic and non-tornadic environments. However, while these parameters are largely governed by the synoptic-scale environment, localized variations in thermodynamic conditions can and do exist, and these heterogeneities are not typically readily identifiable.

One particular challenge to operational forecasters responsible for warning the public of these events occurs when multiple supercells form in relative proximity, in an overall synoptically similar environment: we still cannot determine with accuracy when and where tornadoes will form and from which parent storms. It is quite possible that localized thermodynamic variations are at least partly responsible for differentiating between tornado producers and non-tornadic storms. One source of thermodynamic variability on scales equivalent to that of the parent storm (i.e., O (~10 km)) is soil moisture content. Latent and sensible heat fluxes from the ground contribute directly to boundary layer temperature and moisture profiles, which impact the available amount of low-level CAPE and the local LCL height and, therefore, the parent storm characteristics. As such, it is quite likely that soil moisture characteristics could influence when and where tornadoes form, given the presence of a parent supercell and an otherwise favorable background environment.

7.1 Science Motivation and Goals

The influence of the land-atmosphere interactions on the planetary boundary layer is a fundamental component of the Earth system. To understand these governing processes and complex feedbacks, we need to quantify the contributions of latent and sensible heat fluxes to changes in the temperature, moisture, and momentum profile within the PBL and determine spatial and temporal variations in the strength of land-atmosphere coupling and the processes that control them.

Convective storms, precipitation, and clouds drive major parts of weather and climate, but we still do not have all the pieces to understand why they occur exactly when and where they do. Therefore, we need to relate land-air processes to the initiation, intensity, and evolution of severe and highimpact weather phenomena, including tornadoes, hail, drought, and extreme rainfall events, and determine spatial and temporal variations in the strength of coupling between land surface and convection/precipitation and the processes that control them.

Improving predictions of precipitation, severe weather, flooding, and droughts (on sub-daily to seasonal timescales and local to global spatial scales) will require leveraging better observations and understanding of land-atmosphere interactions. Community based land-atmosphere coupling metrics (e.g. GEWEX LoCo Project; Santanello et al. 2018) aim to quantify and understand this coupling and can be used to diagnose and develop weather and climate models yet require observations of soil moisture and other process-chain variables (surface fluxes, boundary layer

structure and evolution) at similar scales. An essential part of accomplishing this is to identify forecasts of opportunity (i.e., where/when) for which better soil and surface flux initialization improves high-impact weather prediction and determine regions in which improved soil moisture and surface heat flux initialization make the largest improvements in high impact weather prediction skill ("hot spots"), and how those responses vary seasonally ("hot moments").

Finally, the land-atmosphere interactions are subject to anthropogenic changes in climate and land use and understanding them requires improving the skill of climate models for simulating how changes in climate and land use affect the frequency and magnitude of extremes such as droughts and floods.

7.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

Because the spatial scale of thunderstorms is on the order of 10 km horizontally, this length scale represents the minimum resolution required to obtain soil moisture values sufficiently to establish a link between tornadoes and soil moisture. Therefore, any product used to study this problem must have at least a 10-km resolution. Understanding of the role of soil moisture in land-atmosphere coupling will also benefit from higher resolution, on par with that of modern NWP systems, in order to tease out the impact of local vs. non-local (large scale, synoptic) forcing.

7.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

Because soil moisture characteristics will change on time scales of ~days, having observations available daily would be ideal. Ultimately, due to the tightly coupled nature of soil moisture, surface fluxes, and the boundary layer, considerations for spatial and temporal resolution should be made with respect to corresponding advances in observations of these other components. The strong diurnal nature of land-atmosphere coupling (relative to ocean) also suggests that higher temporal dynamics are critical to capture these complex feedbacks and interactions.

8 Ecology (Vegetation Optical Depth)

L-band radiometry derived vegetation optical depth (VOD) is sensitive to variations in vegetation water content that are driven by plant hydraulics and vegetation structure responses to hydrometeorology. This has been demonstrated from hydro-ecological principles and confirmed over multiple scales ranging from detailed field measurements of individual plants to global satellite observations of diverse ecosystems (Konings et al., 2019). The VOD provides a microwave frequency dependent measure of the vegetation opacity to surface microwave emissions and is therefore sensitive to variations in both above-ground vegetation biomass cover and its water content (Konings et al., 2021; Wigneron et al., 2021). Both of these attributes have strong value for ecosystem science and applications extending from regional to global extents, and over (sub)daily, seasonal, and annual time scales. VOD retrievals have also been successfully derived from higher frequency VOD retrievals, which are primarily sensitive to upper canopy layers, the L-band VOD provides greater sensitivity to a larger canopy volume and maintains sensitivity over a higher level of standing biomass (Rodriguez-Fernandez et al. 2018, Chaparro et al., 2019; Frappart et al., 2020).

Global VOD records derived from existing operational L-band radiometers from SMOS and SMAP have been used in a variety of science applications, including studies on vegetation biomass phenology, disturbance and recovery (Frappart et al., 2020, Schmidt et al., 2023); crop water content and yield estimates (Chaparro et al., 2018; Togliatti et al., 2019); evapotranspiration (Martens et al., 2017), plant trait mapping (Liu et al, 2020), and ecosystem carbon dynamics (Dou et al., 2023, Wigneron et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2023). On daily and weekly timescales, VOD from L-, C-, and X-bands have been used to assess, for instance, plant water uptake (Feldman et al., 2018, Feldman et al. 2021) and live fuel moisture content (Fan et al., 2018, Forkel et al., 2023, Chaparro et al., 2024). Compared with optically-derived vegetation indices, L-band VOD does not saturate in densely vegetated areas and allows capturing information from major terrestrial ecosystem changes (Bueso et al., 2023, Fan et al., 2023).

The combined use of satellite L-band and higher frequency VODs supported by other complimentary satellite data, including L-band soil moisture, offers potential for monitoring the storage and movements of water along the soil-vegetation-atmosphere continuum, which could advance understanding of how plant communities collectively manage scarce water resources to sustain productivity under variable climate, and also how they regulate water, energy and carbon exchange between the land and atmosphere. Key VOD science and technical challenges include disentangling temperature, biomass, and relative water content effects on VOD and interpreting VOD signals from complex ecosystems composed of a diversity of plant functional types and water use strategies.

A 10-km L-band radiometer would provide more than sixteen times finer VOD spatial resolution enhancement over current (~40-km footprint) VOD records from SMAP and SMOS, which could advance new science and understanding of ecosystem-level behavior. For example, a 10 km L-band VOD would achieve a sufficient scale threshold ability to inform individual farm-level management decisions associated with crop water use and critical development stages, tillage, and harvest practices in the US Corn Belt and possibly even in less homogeneous croplands. Global land surface models are rapidly evolving to operate at finer spatial resolutions approaching 10 km while also representing the effects of plant hydraulics on land-atmosphere fluxes (Kennedy et al., 2019; Eller et al., 2020). The model parameterizations and predictions of plant hydraulics currently have very few observational constraints and would benefit from an independent VOD record with similar space-time dimensions (Holtzman et al., 2023).

8.1 Science Motivation and Goals

Several motivating science questions were identified from the workshop that could be more effectively addressed from 10-km L-band radiometer-derived VOD retrievals over the current baseline. One question asked how do vegetation communities control the storage and movement of water/carbon/energy across the soil-vegetation-atmosphere continuum? A major science goal addressing this question involved clarifying how communities of individual plants interact collectively to influence ecosystem-level water use and land-atmosphere fluxes of water, energy, and carbon. An associated science objective identified in this area included quantifying spatial scaling properties linking water storage patterns from individuals to ecosystems.

Another question asked how are natural ecosystems and their associated goods and services responding to climate change? The associated science goals included quantifying the plant water stress response to the changing nature and frequency of droughts; and clarifying how vegetation water deficits influence ecosystem susceptibility to and recovery from drought, wildfire, and other disturbances. Related science objectives included 1) clarifying how diurnal and seasonal changes in vegetation water content respond to increasingly hot droughts and 2) understanding how the drought response of diurnal and seasonal VWC changes is influenced by recent hydroclimatic variability in a given ecosystem. Another question emphasized food security, asking how are agricultural systems and food production responding to changing hydro-climate. An associated science goal is to understand how crop photosynthesis rates will respond to changing climate. Science objectives identified under this theme included: 1) understanding how the timing of crop management and phenology is responding to changing climate and water availability, including more variable precipitation; and 2) understanding how the timing of management and crop phenology is responding to longer growing seasons.

In the field of the global carbon cycle, a key issue is to improve monitoring of the impact of climate (through droughts and associated mortality, windthrow, etc.) and human activities on forest above-ground biomass (AGB). This assessment is based on the spatial relationship between VOD and AGB (Wigneron et al., 2021). However, the quality of this relationship is limited by the within-pixel heterogeneity of the forest cover, due to the coarse spatial resolution of SMOS and SMAP.

8.2 Benefit of 10-km Resolution over 40-km Resolution

A 10-km L-band VOD retrieval for ecosystem applications would greatly improve the delineation of vegetation biomass and water use at the ecosystem or ecoregion level, whereas current capabilities from SMOS and SMAP are largely only able to distinguish broad regional climate and biome level variations.

At 10-km resolution, the impact of forest cover heterogeneity would be greatly attenuated, making estimates of changes in forest AGB much more accurate (Wigneron et al., 2024).

For agricultural applications, the value of a 10 km L-band would provide a significant advance in resolving individual farm and crop-level management practices and water use. A 10-km VOD observable would also be closer to the scale of next-generation land models with sophisticated

model representations of plant hydraulics (e.g., CLM, JULES, and Noah-MP), which would have greater utility for land model parameterizations and data assimilation.

8.3 Revisit Time and Other Considerations

The VOD retrievals have ecosystem relevance at daily, weekly, and annual time scales that are associated with respective variations in (sub)daily water use and water storage recovery, phenology and drought recovery, and biomass growth, disturbance, and recovery. A VOD record spanning at least a full annual cycle may be needed to normalize and isolate the water dynamics signal, and to establish baseline conditions to monitor above-ground biomass changes. To fully capture diurnal variability in vegetation water use and recovery, VOD retrievals would have to be consistently sampled at least four times per day. However, finer temporal sampling may provide only limited value (Holtzman et al., 2023). If used, the combination of L-band and higher frequency VOD retrievals would also have to be closely collocated spatially and temporally to ensure similar sampling footprints and similar conditions of surface heating and cooling.

8.4 VOD Retrieval Considerations

Several challenges remain that must be addressed before L-band radiometry can be fully realized for the above applications, including a better understanding of the effects of canopy temperature on the L-band emission signal and the dielectric constant of vegetation; an understanding of how to interpret VOD signals in diverse ecosystems; and the development of better retrieval algorithms to disentangle biomass and relative water content effects on VOD. Significant science value-added could be gained through the additional use of nested higher frequency TB and VOD retrievals, optical retrievals of canopy greenness and solar-induced canopy fluorescence, and Lidar and radar retrievals of vegetation biomass structure. These complementary observations could be applied for further VOD spatial enhancement and partitioning between canopy layers and leafy and woody components, and to clarify relations between vegetation water use and productivity.

9 Science Traceability Matrix Examples

Below are three science traceability matrices (STM) developed at the workshop for the following science motivations:

- 1. The need to understand how coastal ecosystems will evolve in a changing climate and to improve related climate model projections
- 2. The importance of understanding how oceanic elements of the energy, water and carbon cycles will evolve in a changing climate and improving related climate model projections
- 3. The need to understand and predict high latitude ocean changes in response to a warming climate and to improve related climate model projections

The STM show the derivation of the instrument requirements from the science motivation, following the definitions of the science goals, science objectives, and the requirements for the physical and observables.

Science	Science Goal	Science Objectives	Scientific Measurement Requirements		Instrument
Motivation			Physical Parameters	Observables	Requirements
1. The need to understand how coastal ecosystems will evolve in a changing climate and to improve related climate model projections	G1. Improve our understanding of land-sea exchanges and their influence on marine ecosystems and biogeochemistry	 O1.1. Improve our estimation of plume pathway, extent and concentration of freshwater, nutrients, carbon for large and smaller rivers, how it changes over time and its impacts on the coastal ocean METHOD – General: Sea surface salinity is a tracer for riverine runoff. METHOD – Specific: Sea surface salinity observations in conjunction with CDOM, in river measurements of nutrients, ocean currents can trace riverine waters. O1.2. Determine the impacts of changes in river discharge caused by human activities on the coastal ocean METHOD – General: The coastal ocean is influenced by land processes via river runoff. Improved ecosystem models for coastal oceans can help understand the impacts affecting the coastal ocean. METHOD – Specific: Sea surface salinity along with ocean color and land observations can help to understand better environmental changes. Eutrophication and acidification in the coastal ocean can be due to human-induced increased mobilization of nutrients and carbon from soils and changes in freshwater discharge. 	 PP1. Sea surface salinity at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP2. Sea surface temperature, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP3. Wind speed and direction, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP4. Chlorophyll-a and CDOM, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP5. river discharge, daily PP6. land cover, daily 	Obs1. L band brightness temperatures (SSS) Obs2. C-Ka band polarimetric radiometry (WS/dir, SST) Obs3. IR(4-12 micron) radiometry (SST) Obs4. VIS/NIR imaging (400-900 nm, ocean color/ChI-A, land cover)	R1. Frequency/wavelength: L band TB: 1.4 GHz C-Ka band TB: 6.9, 10.7, 18.7, 32 GHz IR: 4-12 micron VisNIR: 400-900 nm R2: Spatial resolution: 10 km R3. NEDT: L-Ka band TB: 0.2 K R4. Radiometric accuracy: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K R5. Radiometric stability: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K

Science	Science Goal	Science Objectives	Scientific Measure	ment Requirements	Instrument
Motivation			Physical Parameters	Observables	Requirements
2. The importance of understanding how oceanic elements of the energy, water and carbon cycles will evolve in a changing climate and improving related climate model projections	G2. Improve our understanding of salinity processes that influence the energy, water, and carbon cycles	 O2.1. Improve the estimation of exchanges of carbon at the air-sea interface METHOD – General: Quantifying pCO2 fluxes at the interface between the atmosphere and the ocean would help estimating a branch of the carbon cycle. METHOD – Specific: pCO2 fluxes can be estimated from sea surface salinity, temperature and chlorophyll-a. O2.2. Improve our understanding of salinity processes at mesoscales and near land-sea and sea-ice edge METHOD – General: Resolve ocean eddies and fronts as they influence the transport of heat, salt, nutrients, oxygen, and pollutants over long distances. METHOD – Specific: O2.3. Improve understanding of evaporation and precipitation fluxes at the ocean-atmosphere interface METHOD – General: Evaporation and precipitation fluxes at the ocean-atmosphere interface can be seen in the sea surface salinity signals. In response to a warming climate, the moisture capacity of the atmosphere increases, so freshwater fluxes at the interface with the ocean are expected to change. METHOD – Specific: Estimate the variance of sea surface salinity is indicative of changes in evaporation minus precipitation minus runoff. 	 PP1. Sea surface salinity at small scales (1-100 km), daily PP2. Sea surface temperature, at small scales (1-100 km), daily PP3. Wind speed and direction, at small scales (1-100 km), daily PP4. Chlorophyll-a and CDOM, at small scales (1-100 km), daily PP5. pC02 fluxes at at small scales (1-100 km), (retrieved from sea surface salinity, chlorophyll-a and sea surface temperature) PP6. Sea ice concentration, extent and thickness, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP7. Evaporation and precipitation at the surface of the ocean, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP8. Sea surface salinity gradients at small scales (20 km) 	Obs1. L band brightness temperatures (SSS) Obs2. C-Ka band polarimetric radiometry (WS/dir, SST) Obs3. IR(4-12 micron) radiometry (SST) Obs4. VIS/NIR imaging (400-900 nm, ocean color/ChI-A, land cover)	R1. Frequency/wavelength: L band TB: 1.4 GHz C-Ka band TB: 6.9, 10.7, 18.7, 32 GHz IR: 4-12 micron VisNIR: 400-900 nm R2: Spatial resolution: 10 km R3. NEDT: L-Ka band TB: 0.2 K R4. Radiometric accuracy: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K R5. Radiometric stability: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K

Science	Science Goal	Science Objectives	Scientific Measurement Requirements		Instrument
Motivation			Physical Parameters	Observables	Requirements
3. The need to understand and predict high latitude ocean changes in response to a warming climate and to improve related climate model projections	G3. Improve our understanding of ocean-ice and ocean-atmosphere interactions in high- latitude oceans	 O3.1. Improve our understanding of how ocean state in one season preconditions sea-ice evolution in the subsequent season METHOD – General: Salinity is the dominant driver of stratification in the Arctic Ocean and plays a key role in sea ice formation. METHOD – Specific: Stratification in the Arctic Ocean, driven by salinity, can trap heat subsurface, allowing sea ice to form more rapidly. When the stratification is disrupted by winds or waves, heat is released to the surface and could slow down sea ice formation. O3.2. How does ice melt water influence air-sea exchanges of heat and momentum METHOD – General: The Arctic open water season is becoming longer. The ocean surface, normally covered by sea ice, now allows exchanges between the ocean and the atmosphere. METHOD – Specific: The stratification of the growing open ocean at high latitudes (driven by salinity) can have an impact on the exchanges of heat and momentum between the ocean and the atmosphere. 	 PP1. Sea surface salinity at small scales (1-40 km), daily, close to the marginal ice zone, icebergs, ice shelves, and coasts PP2. Sea surface temperature, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP3. Wind speed and direction, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP4. Sea ice concentration, extent and thickness, at small scales (1-40 km), daily PP5. Heat and momentum fluxes at the ocean surface, at small scales (1-40 km), daily 	Obs1. L band brightness temperatures (SSS) Obs2. C-Ka band polarimetric radiometry (WS/dir, SST) Obs3. IR(4-12 micron) radiometry (SST) Obs4. VIS/NIR imaging (400-900 nm, ocean color/ChI-A, land cover)	R1. Frequency/wavelength: L band TB: 1.4 GHz C-Ka band TB: 6.9, 10.7, 18.7, 32 GHz IR: 4-12 micron VisNIR: 400-900 nm R2: Spatial resolution: 10 km R3. NEDT: L-Ka band TB: 0.2 K R4. Radiometric accuracy: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K R5. Radiometric stability: L-Ka band TB: 0.5 K

References

- Aagaard, K.; Coachman, L.K.; Carmack, E. (1981). On the halocline of the Arctic Ocean. Deep Sea Res. Part A Oceanogr. Res. Pap., 28, 529–545
- Abdalati, W., K. Steffen. (1995). Passive Microwave-Derived Snow Melt Regions on the Greenland Ice Sheet. Geophys. Res. Lett., Vol. 22, No. 7, pp. 787-790. https://doi.org/10.1029/95GL00433
- Akbar, R., Short Gianotti, D. J., Salvucci, G. D., & Entekhabi, D. (2019). Mapped hydroclimatology of evapotranspiration and drainage runoff using SMAP brightness temperature observations and precipitation information. Water Resources Research, 55, 3391–3413. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018WR024459
- Akins, A., Brown, S., Lee, T., Misra, S., & Yueh, S. (2023). Simulation Framework and Case Studies for the Design of Sea Surface Salinity Remote Sensing Missions. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing, 16, 1321–1334. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSTARS.2023.3234407
- Bateni, S.M., C. Huang, S.A. Margulis, E. Podest, and K. McDonald (2013). Feasibility of characterizing snowpack and the freeze-thaw state of underlying soil using multifrequency active/passive microwave data. IEEE TGRS, 51, 7, 4085-4102, DOI: 10.1109/TGRS.2012.2229466.
- Baur, F., C. Keil, and G. C. Craig (2018). Soil moisture–precipitation coupling over Central Europe: Interactions between surface anomalies at different scales and the dynamical implication. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, 144, 2863– 2875, https://doi.org/10.1002/qj.3415.
- Belward, A., Bourassa, M. A., Dowell, M., and Briggs, S. (2016). The Global Observing System for climate: Implementation needs GCOS-200, https: //unfccc.int/files/science/workstreams/systematic_observation/application/ pdf/gcos_ip_10oct2016.pdf
- Bingham, F. M. (2019) Subfootprint variability of sea surface salinity observed during the SPURS-1 and SPURS-2 field campaigns. Remote Sensing, 11(22), 2689; DOI:10.3390/rs11222689
- Bingham, F. M., Z. Li (2020). Spatial Scales of Sea Surface Salinity Subfootprint Variability in the SPURS Regions. Remote Sensing, 12, 3996; doi:10.3390/rs12233996
- Bingham, F. M., S. Brodnitz (2021) Sea Surface Salinity Short Term Variability in the Tropics. Ocean Sci., 17, 1437–1447. doi:10.5194/os-17-1437-2021
- Bingham, F.M.; Brodnitz, S.; Fournier, S.; Ulfsax, K.; Hayashi, A.; Zhang, H. (2021) Sea Surface Salinity Subfootprint Variability from a Global High-Resolution Model. Remote Sens. 13,4410. doi:10.3390/rs13214410
- Blume, H.J.C., Kendall, B.M., Fedors, J.C. (1978). Measurement of ocean temperature and salinity via microwave radiometry. Boundary-Layer Meteorol. 13, 295–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00913879.
- Bueso, D., Piles, M., Ciais, P., Wigneron, J.-P., Moreno-Martínez, Á., & Camps-Valls, G. (2023). Soil and vegetation water content identify the main terrestrial ecosystem changes. National Science Review, 10(5), nwad026. https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nwad026
- Carmack, E.; Polyakov, I.; Padman, L.; Fer, I.; Hunke, E.; Hutchings, J.; Jackson, J.; Kelley, D.; Kwok, R.; Layton, C.; et al. (2015). Toward quantifying the increasing role of oceanic heat in sea-ice loss in the New Arctic. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc., 96, 2079–2105

- Chan, S. K., Bindlish, R., O'Neill, P. E., Njoku, E., Jackson, T., Colliander, A., Chen, F., Burgin, M., Dunbar, S., Piepmeier, J., Yueh, S., Entekhabi, D., Cosh, M. H., Caldwell, T., Walker, J., Wu, X., Berg, A., Rowlandson, T., Pacheco, A., ... Kerr, Y. (2016). Assessment of the SMAP Passive Soil Moisture Product. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing (Vol. 54, Issue 8, pp. 4994–5007). https://doi.org/10.1109/tgrs.2016.2561938
- Chan, S.K., R. Bindlish, P. O'Neill, T. Jackson, E. Njoku, S. Dunbar, J. Chaubell, J. Piepmeier, S. Yueh, D. Entekhabi, A. Colliander, F. Chen, M.H. Cosh, T. Caldwell, J. Walker, A. Berg, H. McNairn, M. Thibeault, J. Martínez-Fernández, F. Uldall, M. Seyfried, D. Bosch, P. Starks, C. Holifield Collins, J. Prueger, R. van der Velde, J. Asanuma, M. Palecki, E.E. Small, M. Zreda, J. Calvet, W.T. Crow, Y. Kerr. (2018). Development and Assessment of the SMAP Enhanced Passive Soil Moisture Product. Remote Sensing of Environment, Vol. 204, pp. 931-941.
- Chaparro, D., Piles, M., Vall-Llossera, M., Camps, A., Konings, A.G., Entekhabi, D. (2018). L-band Vegetation Optical Depth Seasonal Metrics for Crop Yield Assessment. Remote Sensing of Environment, 212, 249-259.
- Chaparro, D., Duveiller, G., Piles, M., Cescatti, A., Vall-llossera, M., Camps, A., & Entekhabi, D. (2019). Sensitivity of L-band vegetation optical depth to carbon stocks in tropical forests: a comparison to higher frequencies and optical indices. Remote Sensing of Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111303
- Chaparro, D., Jagdhuber, T., Piles, M., Jonard, F., Fluhrer, A., Vall-Ilossera, M., Camps, A., López-Martínez, C., Fernández-Morán, R., Baur, M., Feldman, A. F., Fink, A., & Entekhabi, D. (2024).
 Vegetation moisture estimation in the Western United States using radiometer-radar-lidar synergy. Remote Sensing of Environment, 303, 113993.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2024.113993
- Chaubell, J., Yueh, S., Dunbar, R. S., Colliander, A., Entekhabi, D., Chan, S. K., Chen, F., Xu, X., Bindlish, R., OaNeill, P., Asanuma, J., Berg, A. A., Bosch, D. D., Caldwell, T., Cosh, M. H., Collins, C. H., Jensen, K. H., Martinez-Fernandez, J., Seyfried, M., et al. (2022). Regularized Dual-Channel Algorithm for the Retrieval of Soil Moisture and Vegetation Optical Depth From SMAP Measurements. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens. (Vol. 15, pp. 102–114). https://doi.org/10.1109/jstars.2021.3123932
- Chkrebtii, O. A., and F. M. Bingham, 2023: Automatic Detection of Rainfall at Hourly Time Scales from Mooring Near-Surface Salinity in the Eastern Tropical Pacific. Artif. Intell. Earth Syst., 2, 220009, https://doi.org/10.1175/AIES-D-22-0009.1
- Colliander, A., R. H. Reichle, W. Crow, M. H. Cosh, F. Chen, N. Das, R. Bindlish, M. J. Chaubell, S. B. Kim, Q. Liu, P. O'Neill, R. S. Dunbar, L. Dang, J. Kimball, et al. (2022a). Validation of Soil Moisture Data Products from the NASA SMAP Mission. IEEE J. Sel. Topics Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens. Vol. 15, pp. 364-392, DOI: 10.1109/JSTARS.2021.3124743
- Colliander, A., Mousavi, M., Marshall, S., Samimi, S., Kimball, J. S., Miller, J. Z., Johnson, J., & Burgin, M. (2022b). Ice Sheet Surface and Subsurface Melt Water Discrimination Using Multi-Frequency Microwave Radiometry. Geophysical Research Letters (Vol. 49, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2021gl096599
- Colliander, A., Kerr, Y., Wigneron, J.-P., Al-Yaari, A., Rodriguez-Fernandez, N., Li, X., Chaubell, J.,
 Richaume, P., Mialon, A., Asanuma, J., Berg, A., Bosch, D. D., Caldwell, T., Cosh, M. H., Holifield
 Collins, C., Martínez-Fernández, J., McNairn, H., Seyfried, M. S., Starks, P. J., Su, Z., Thibeault, M.,
 Walker, J. P. (2023a). Performance of SMOS Soil Moisture Products over Core Validation Sites.

IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, Vol. 20, pp. 1-5, 2023, Art no. 2502805, https://doi.org/10.1109/lgrs.2023.3272878

- Colliander, A., Mousavi, M., Kimball, J. S., Miller, J. Z., & Burgin, M. (2023b). Spatial and temporal differences in surface and subsurface meltwater distribution over Greenland ice sheet using multi-frequency passive microwave observations. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 295, p. 113705). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2023.113705
- Colosio, P., Tedesco, M., Ranzi, R., and Fettweis, X.: Surface melting over the Greenland ice sheet derived from enhanced resolution passive microwave brightness temperatures (1979–2019), The Cryosphere, 15, 2623–2646, https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-15-2623-2021, 2021.
- Creutin, J. D., Borga, M., Gruntfest, E., Lutoff, C., Zoccatelli, D., & Ruin, I. (2013). A space and time framework for analyzing human anticipation of flash floods. In Journal of Hydrology (Vol. 482, pp. 14–24). Elsevier BV. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.11.009
- Crow, W.T., Chen, F., Reichle, R.H. and Liu, Q. L band microwave remote sensing and land data assimilation improve the representation of prestorm soil moisture conditions for hydrologic forecasting. Geophysical Research Letters. 44. 10.1002/2017GL073642. 2017.
- D'Addezio, J., Bingham, F.M. and G. Jacobs (2019) Sea Surface Salinity Subfootprint Variability Estimates from Regional High-Resolution Model Simulations. Remote Sensing of the Environment, 23, 111365, DOI: 10.1016/j.rse.2019.111365
- Das, S.B, R.B. Alley. (2003). Recent Surface Melting in West Antarctica: Comparison of Remote and In-Situ Observation. Seventh Conference on Polar Meteorology and Oceanography and Joint Symposium on High-Latitude Climate Variations, 12-16 May 2003
- Del Castillo, C.E.; Miller, R.L. On the use of ocean color remote sensing to measure the transport of dissolved organic carbon by the Mississippi River Plume. Remote Sens. Environ. 2008, 112, 836–844.
- Derksen, C., Xu, X., Dunbar, R.S., Colliander, A., Kim, Y., Kimball, J.S., Black, T.A., Euskirchen, E., Langlois, A., Loranty, M.M., Marsh, P., Rautiainen, K., Roy, A., Royer, A., Stephens, J. (2017).
 Retrieving Landscape Freeze/Thaw State from Soil Moisture Active Passive (SMAP) Radar and Radiometer Measurements. Remote Sensing of Environment 194, 48-62.
- Donahue, K., J.S. Kimball, J. Du, F. Bunt, A. Colliander, M. Moghaddam, J. Johnson, Y. Kim, and M.A. Rawlins, 2023. Deep learning estimation of northern hemisphere soil freeze-thaw dynamics using satellite multifrequency microwave brightness temperature observations. Front. Big Data, 6, 1243559, DOI: 10.3389/fdata.2023.1243559.
- Donlon, C. (Ed.), (2023). ref. ESA-EOPSM-CIMR-MRD-3236. European Space Agency. Copernicus imaging microwave radiometer (CIMR) mission requirements document, version 5. https://cimr.eu
- Dou, Y., Tian, F., Wigneron, J.-P., Tagesson, T., Du, J., Brandt, M., Liu, Y., Zou, L., Kimball, J.S., Fensholt, R. (2023). Reliability of Using Vegetation Optical Depth for Estimating Decadal and Interannual Carbon Dynamics. Remote Sensing of Environment, 285, 113390.
- Droppelman, J.D., Mennella, R.A., Evans, D.E., 1970. An airborne Measuremtn of the salinity variations of the Mississippi River outflow. J. Geophys. Res. 75, 5909–5913.
- Drushka, K., W. E. Asher, B. Ward, and K. Walesby, 2016: Understanding the formation and evolution of rain-formed fresh lenses at the ocean surface. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans, 121, 2673–2689, https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JC011527

- Drushka, K., W. E. Asher, A. T. Jessup, E. J. Thompson, S. Iyer, and D. Clark. (2019b). Capturing fresh layers with the surface salinity profiler. Oceanography, 32, 76–85, https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog. 2019.215
- Drushka, K., W. E. Asher, J. Sprintall, S. T. Gille, and C. Hoang. (2019a). Global Patterns of Submesoscale Surface Salinity Variability. J. Phys. Oceanogr., 49, 1669–1685, https://doi.org/10.1175/JPO-D-19-0018.1
- Du, J., J.S. Kimball, M. Azarderakhsh, R.S. Dunbar, M. Moghaddam, and K.C. McDonald, 2014.
 Classification of Alaska spring thaw characteristics using satellite L-band radar remote sensing.
 IEEE TGRS, 53, 1, 542-556, DOI: 10.1109/TGRS.2014.2325409.
- Durack, P.J. 2015. Ocean salinity and the global water cycle. Oceanography 28(1):20–31, http://dx.doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2015.03.
- Eagleman, J. R., and Lin, W. C. (1976), Remote sensing of soil moisture by a 21-cm passive radiometer, J. Geophys. Res., 81(21), 3660–3666, doi:10.1029/JC081i021p03660.
- Eller, C.B., Rowland, L., Mencuccini, M., Rosas, T., Williams, K., Harper, A., Medlyn, B.E., Wagner, Y., Klein, T., Teodoro, G.S., Oliveira, R.S., Matos, I.S., Rosado, B.H.P., Fuchs, K., Wohlfahrt, G., Montagnani, L., Meir, P., Sitch, S., Cox, P.M. (2020). Stomatal Optimization Based on Xylem Hydraulics (SOX) Improves Land Surface Model Simulation of Vegetation Responses to Climate. New Phytologist, 226(6), 1622-1637.
- Entekhabi, D., S. Yueh, P. O'Neill, and K. Kellogg, SMAP Handbook—Soil Moisture Active Passive: Mapping Soil Moisture and Freeze/Thaw From Space. Pasadena, CA, USA: SMAP Project, Jet Propulsion Lab., 2014.
- Entekhabi, D., 2023. Propagation in the Drought Cascade: Observational Analysis Over the Continental US. *Water Resources Research*, *59*(9), p.e2022WR032608.
- Escorihuela, M-J., Y. Kerr. (2018). Low Frequency Passive Microwave User Requirement Consolidation Study - White paper on L-band radiometry for earth observation: status and achievements. Report SARD_ESA_LBAND_TN_565, Iss. 3.0, September 5, 2018.
- Fan, L., J.-P. Wigneron, Qing Xiao, A Al-Yaari, Jianguang Wen, Nicolas Martin-StPaul, J.-L. Dupuy, François Pimont, A Al Bitar, R Fernandez-Moran, and Y H Kerr. Evaluation of microwave remote sensing for monitoring live fuel moisture content in the Mediterranean region. Remote Sens. Environ., 205:210–223, 2018. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.11.020.
- Fan, L., Wigneron, JP., Ciais, P. et al. Siberian carbon sink reduced by forest disturbances. Nat. Geosci. 16, 56–62 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-022-01087-x
- Farahani, A., Moradikhaneghahi, M., Ghayoomi, M., & Jacobs, J. M. (2022). Application of soil moisture active passive (SMAP) satellite data in seismic response assessment. Remote Sensing, 14(17), 4375. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14174375.
- Farrar, J.T., et al., "S-MODE: The Sub-Mesoscale Ocean Dynamics Experiment," IGARSS 2020 2020
 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, 2020, pp. 3533-3536, doi: 10.1109/IGARSS39084.2020.9323112
- Feldman, A. F., Short Gianotti, D. J., Konings, A. G., McColl, K. A., Akbar, R., Salvucci, G. D., & Entekhabi, D. (2018). Moisture pulse-reserve in the soil-plant continuum observed across biomes. Nature Plants, 4(12), 1026–1033. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-018-0304-9
- Feldman, A.F., Short Gianotti, D.J., Trigo, I.F., Salvucci, G.D. and Entekhabi, D., 2019. Satellite-based assessment of land surface energy partitioning–soil moisture relationships and effects of confounding variables. Water Resources Research, 55(12), pp.10657-10677.

- Ferguson, C. R., S. Agrawal, M. C. Beauharnois, G. Xia, D. A. Burrows, and L. F. Bosart, 2020: Assimilation of Satellite-Derived Soil Moisture for Improved Forecasts of the Great Plains Low-Level Jet. Mon. Wea. Rev., 148, 4607–4627, https://doi.org/10.1175/MWR-D-20-0185.1.
- Fettweis, X., Gallée, H., Lefebre, F. et al. (2006). The 1988–2003 Greenland ice sheet melt extent using passive microwave satellite data and a regional climate model. Clim. Dyn., Vol. 27, pp. 531– 541. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-006-0150-8
- Font, J., Boutin, J., Reul, N., Spurgeon, P., Ballabrera-Poy, J., Chuprin, A., Gabarró, C., Gourrion, J., Guimbard, S., Hénocq, C., Lavender, S., Martin, N., Martínez, J., McCulloch, M., Meirold-Mautner, I., Mugerin, C., Petitcolin, F., Portabella, M., Sabia, R., ... Delwart, S. (2012). SMOS first data analysis for sea surface salinity determination. International Journal of Remote Sensing (Vol. 34, Issues 9–10, pp. 3654–3670). https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2012.716541
- Forkel, M., Schmidt, L., Zotta, R.-M., Dorigo, W., & Yebra, M. (2023). Estimating leaf moisture content at global scale from passive microwave satellite observations of vegetation optical depth.
 Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 27(1), 39–68. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-27-39-2023
- Fournier, S., B. Chapron, J. Salisbury, D. Vandemark, and N. Reul (2015), Comparison of spaceborne measurements of sea surface salinity and colored detrital matter in the Amazon plume, J. Geophys. Res. Oceans, 120, 3177–3192, doi:10.1002/2014JC010109.
- Fournier, S., Lee, T., Tang, W., Steele, M. and Olmedo, E., 2019. Evaluation and intercomparison of SMOS, Aquarius, and SMAP sea surface salinity products in the Arctic Ocean. Remote Sensing, 11(24), p.3043.
- Fournier, S., & Lee, T. (2021). Seasonal and interannual variability of sea surface salinity near major river mouths of the world ocean inferred from gridded satellite and in-situ salinity products. Remote Sensing, 13(4), 728. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13040728
- Frappart, F., Wigneron, J.-P., Li, X., Liu, X., Al-Yaari, A., Fan, L. Wang, M., Moisy, C., Le Masson, E., Lafkih, Z.A., Valle, C., Ygorra, B., Baghdadi, N. (2020). Global Monitoring of the Vegetation Dynamics from the Vegetation Optical Depth (VOD): A Review. Remote Sensing, 12(18), 2915.
- Froidevaux, P., L. Schlemmer, J. Schmidli, W. Langhans, and C. Schär, 2014: Influence of the Background Wind on the Local Soil Moisture–Precipitation Feedback. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences, 71, 782–799, https://doi.org/10.1175/JAS-D-13-0180.1.
- Gaal, R., and J. L. K. Iii, 2021: Soil Moisture Influence on the Incidence of Summer Mesoscale Convective Systems in the U.S. Great Plains. Monthly Weather Review, 149, 3981– 3994, https://doi.org/10.1175/MWR-D-21-0140.1.
- Garcia-Carreras, L., D. J. Parker, and J. H. Marsham, 2011: What is the Mechanism for the Modification of Convective Cloud Distributions by Land Surface–Induced Flows? Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences, 68, 619–634, https://doi.org/10.1175/2010JAS3604.1.
- Grodsky, S. A., Vandemark, D., Feng, H., & Levin, J. (2018). Satellite detection of an unusual intrusion of salty slope water into a marginal sea: Using SMAP to monitor Gulf of Maine inflows. Remote Sensing of Environment, 217,550–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.09.004
- Holtzman, N., Wang, Y., Wood, J.D., Frankenberg, C., Konings, A.G. (2023). Constraining Plant
 Hydraulics with Microwave Radiometry in a Land Surface Model: Impacts of Temporal Resolution.
 Water Resources Research 59(11), e2023WR035481.
- Houtz, D., Naderpour, R., Schwank, M., & Steffen, K. (2019). Snow wetness and density retrieved from L-band satellite radiometer observations over a site in the West Greenland ablation zone.
 Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 235, p. 111361). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111361

- Houtz, D., Mätzler, C., Naderpour, R., Schwank, M., & Steffen, K. (2021). Quantifying Surface Melt and Liquid Water on the Greenland Ice Sheet using L-band Radiometry. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 256, p. 112341). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112341
- Hsu, H., and P. A. Dirmeyer, 2022: Deconstructing the Soil Moisture–Latent Heat Flux Relationship: The Range of Coupling Regimes Experienced and the Presence of Nonlinearity within the Sensitive Regime. Journal of Hydrometeorology, 23, 1041–1057, https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-D-21-0224.1.
- Huang, H.-Y. and Margulis, S.A. (2013), Impact of soil moisture heterogeneity length scale and gradients on daytime coupled land-cloudy boundary layer interactions. Hydrol. Process., 27: 1988-2003. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.9351
- Huang, M., P.-L. Ma, N. W. Chaney, D. Hao, G. Bisht, M. D. Fowler, V. E. Larson, and L. R. Leung, 2022: Representing surface heterogeneity in land–atmosphere coupling in E3SMv1 single-column model over ARM SGP during summertime. Geoscientific Model Development, 15, 6371– 6384, https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-15-6371-2022.
- Husman, S. de R., Hu, Z., Wouters, B., Munneke, P. K., Veldhuijsen, S., & Lhermitte, S. (2023). Remote Sensing of Surface Melt on Antarctica: Opportunities and Challenges. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing (Vol. 16, pp. 2462–2480). https://doi.org/10.1109/jstars.2022.3216953
- Jackson, T. J., A. Y. Hsu, A. Van de Griend & J. R. Eagleman (2004): Skylab L-band microwave radiometer observations of soil moisture revisited, International Journal of Remote Sensing, 25:13, 2585-2606 http://doi.org/10.1080/01431160310001647723.
- Jezek, K.C., S. Wang, M. Leduc-Leballeur, J.T. Johnson, M. Brogioni, J.Z. Miller, D.G. Long, and G. Macelloni, (2022). Relationships between L-band brightness temperature, backscatter, and physical properties of the Ross Ice Shelf Antarctica, IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 60, 1-14, doi:10.1109/TGRS.2022.3218538.
- Jiménez, C., and Coauthors, 2021: Ocean and Sea Ice Retrievals From an End-To-End Simulation of the Copernicus Imaging Microwave Radiometer (CIMR) 1.4–36.5 GHz Measurements. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans, 126, e2021JC017610, https://doi.org/10.1029/2021JC017610.
- Johnson, J. T., Jezek, K. C., MacElloni, G., Brogioni, M., Tsang, L., Dinnat, E. P., Walker, J. P., Ye, N., Misra, S., Piepmeier, J. R., Bindlish, R., Levine, D. M., O'Neill, P. E., Kaleschke, L., Andrews, M. J., Yardim, C., Aksoy, M., Durand, M., Chen, C. C., ... Drinkwater, M. (2021). Microwave Radiometry at Frequencies from 500 to 1400 MHz: An Emerging Technology for Earth Observations. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing, 14, 4894–4914. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSTARS.2021.3073286
- Johnston, J.M., P.R. Houser, V. Maggioni, R.-S. Kim, and C. Vuyovick, 2021. Informing improvements in freeze/thaw state classification using subpixel temperature. IEEE TGRS, 60, 4301319, DOI: 10.1109/TGRS.2021.3099292.
- Kaleschke, L., Maaß, N., Haas, C., Hendricks, S., Heygster, G., & Tonboe, R. T. (2010). A sea-ice thickness retrieval model for 1.4 GHz radiometry and application to airborne measurements over low salinity sea-ice. The Cryosphere (Vol. 4, Issue 4, pp. 583–592). https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-4-583-2010
- Kao, H.-Y., Lagerloef, G. S. E., Lee, T., Melnichenko, O., Meissner, T., & Hacker, P. (2018). Assessment of Aquarius Sea Surface Salinity. Remote Sensing (Vol. 10, Issue 9, p. 1341). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10091341

- Kennedy, D., Swenson, S., Oleson, K.W., Lawrence, D.M., Fisher, R., Lola da Costa, A.C., Gentine, P. (2019). Implementing Plant Hydraulics in the Community Land Model, Version 5. JAMES 11(2)m 485-513.
- Kerr, Y. H., Waldteufel, P., Wigneron, J.-P., Delwart, S., Cabot, F., Boutin, J., Escorihuela, M.-J., Font, J., Reul, N., Gruhier, C., Juglea, S. E., Drinkwater, M. R., Hahne, A., Martín-Neira, M., & Mecklenburg, S. (2010). The SMOS Mission: New Tool for Monitoring Key Elements of the Global Water Cycle. Proceedings of the IEEE, 98(5), 666–687. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2010.2043032
- Kerr, Y. H., Waldteufel, P., Richaume, P., Wigneron, J. P., Ferrazzoli, P., Mahmoodi, A., Al Bitar, A., Cabot, F., Gruhier, C., Juglea, S. E., Leroux, D., Mialon, A., & Delwart, S. (2012). The SMOS Soil Moisture Retrieval Algorithm. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing (Vol. 50, Issue 5, pp. 1384–1403). https://doi.org/10.1109/tgrs.2012.2184548
- Kerr, Y. H., Al-Yaari, A., Rodriguez-Fernandez, N., Parrens, M., Molero, B., Leroux, D., Bircher, S., Mahmoodi, A., Mialon, A., Richaume, P., Delwart, S., Al Bitar, A., Pellarin, T., Bindlish, R., Jackson, T. J., Rüdiger, C., Waldteufel, P., Mecklenburg, S., & Wigneron, J.-P. (2016). Overview of SMOS performance in terms of global soil moisture monitoring after six years in operation. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 180, pp. 40–63). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.02.042
- Kerr, Y., de Castro, D., Zurita, A., Closa, J. (2019a). Low Frequency Passive Microwave User Requirement Consolidation Study - Cluster Analysis Report. Report SO-TN-CB-GS-0082, Iss. 2.0, October 9, 2019.
- Kerr, Y., M-J. Escorihuela. (2019b). Low Frequency Passive Microwave User Requirement Consolidation Study - Requirement analysis for future systems. Report SO-TN-CB-GS-0075, Iss.
 2.2, September 9, 2019.
- Kilic, L., and Coauthors, 2018: Expected Performances of the Copernicus Imaging Microwave Radiometer (CIMR) for an All-Weather and High Spatial Resolution Estimation of Ocean and Sea Ice Parameters. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans, 123, 7564–7580, https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JC014408
- Kim, H., & Crow, W. T. (2024). Interpreting effective hydrologic depth estimates derived from soil moisture remote sensing: A Bayesian non-linear modeling approach. Science of The Total Environment, 908, 168067.
- Kim, Y., Kimball, J.S., Glassy, J., Du, J. (2017). An Extended Global Earth System Data Record on Daily Landscape Freeze-Thaw Status Determined from Satellite Passive Microwave Remote Sensing. *Earth System Science Data*, 9, 133-147.
- Kim, Y., J.S. Kimball, K. Zhang, and K.C. McDonald, 2012. Satellite detection of increasing Northern Hemisphere non-frozen seasons from 1979 to 2008: Implications for regional vegetation growth. Remote Sensing of Environment, 121, 472-487, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2012.02.014.
- Klein, C., and C. M. Taylor, 2020: Dry soils can intensify mesoscale convective systems. PNAS, 117, 21132–21137, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2007998117.
- Kohn, J., Royer, A. (2010). AMSR-E data inversion for soil temperature estimation under snow cover. Remote Sens. Environ. 2010, 114, 2951–2961.
- Konings, A.G., Rao, K., Steele-Dunne, S.C. (2019). Macro to Micro: Microwave Remote Sensing of Plant Water Content for Physiology and Ecology. New Phytologist, 223(3), 1166-1172.
- Konings, A.G., Saatchi, S.S., Frankenberg, C., Keller, M., Leshyk, V., Anderegg, W.R.L., Humphrey, V.,
 Matheny, A.M., Trugman, A., Sack, L., Agee, E., Barnes, M.L., Binks, O., Cawse-Nicholson, K.,
 Christoffersen, B.O., Entekhabi, D., Gentine, P., Holtzman, N.M., Katul, G.G., Liu, Y., Longo, M.,

Martinez-Vilalta, McDowell, N., Meir, P., Mencuccini, M. Mrad, A., Novick, K.A., Oliveira, R.S., Siqueira, P., Steele-Dunne, S.C., Thompson, D.R., Wang, Y., Wehr, R., Wood, J.D., Xu, X., Zuidema, P.A. (2021). Detecting Forest Response to Droughts with Global Observations of Vegetation Water Content. Global Change Biology, 27(23), 6005-6024.

- Koster, R. D., S. D. Schubert, and M. J. Suarez, 2009: Analyzing the Concurrence of Meteorological Droughts and Warm Periods, with Implications for the Determination of Evaporative Regime. J. Climate, 22, 3331–3341, https://doi.org/10.1175/2008JCLI2718.1.
- Koster, R. D., Z. Guo, R. Yang, P. A. Dirmeyer, K. Mitchell, and M. J. Puma, 2009: On the Nature of Soil Moisture in Land Surface Models. J. Climate, 22, 4322–4335, https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2832.1.
- Koster, R. D., Liu, Q., Crow, W. T., & Reichle, R. H. (2023). Late-fall satellite-based soil moisture observations show clear connections to subsequent spring streamflow. Nature Communications, 14(1), 3545.
- Kwok, R.; Rothrock, D.A. Decline in Arctic sea-ice thickness from submarine and ICES at records: 1958–2008. Geophys. Res. Lett. 2009, 36, L15501
- Lagerloef, G., Colomb, F.R., Le Vine, D., Wentz, F., Yueh, S., Ruf, C., Lilly, J., Gunn, J., Chao, Y., deCharon, A., Swift, C., 2008. The Aquarius/SAC-D mission designed to meet the salinity remote sensing challenge. Oceanography Magazine 21 (1), 68–81
- Lawston, P. M., Santanello, J. A., & Kumar, S. V. (2017). Irrigation signals detected from SMAP soil moisture retrievals. Geophysical Research Letters, 44, 11,860–11,867. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL075733
- Lawston-Parker, P., J. A. Santanello Jr., and N. W. Chaney, 2023: Investigating the response of land– atmosphere interactions and feedbacks to spatial representation of irrigation in a coupled modeling framework. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 27, 2787–2805, https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-27-2787-2023.
- Leduc-Leballeur, M., Picard, G., Macelloni, G., Mialon, A., & Kerr, Y. H. (2020). Melt in Antarctica derived from Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity (SMOS) observations at L band. In The Cryosphere (Vol. 14, Issue 2, pp. 539–548). Copernicus GmbH. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-14-539-2020
- Lemmetyinen, J., Schwank, M., Rautiainen, K., Parkkinen, T., Mätzler, C., Wiesmann, A., Wegmüller, U., Derksen, C., Toose, P., Roy, A., and Pulliainen, J. (2016). Snow density and ground permittivity retrieved from L-Band radiometry: application to experimental data, Remote Sensing of Environment, 180, 377-391.
- Lerner, R.M., Hollinger, J.P., 1977. Analysis of 1.4 GHz radiometric measurements from Skylab. Remote Sens. Environ. 6, 251–269.
- Le Vine, D. M., Abraham, S., Wentz, F., and Lagerloef, G. S. E. (2005). Impact of the Sun on remote sensing of sea surface salinity from space. Proc. Internat. Geosci. & Remote Sens. Sympos, IGARSS05 1, 288–291. doi: 10.1109/IGARSS. 2005.1526164
- Le Vine, D. M., Lagerloef, G. S. E., Colomb, F. R., Yueh, S. H., and Pellerano, F. A. (2007). Aquarius: an instrument to monitor sea surface salinity from Space. in Proceedings of the IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing (Seoul: IEEE)
- Le Vine, D. M., Lagerloef, G. S. E., & Torrusio, S. E. (2010). Aquarius and Remote Sensing of Sea Surface Salinity from Space. Proceedings of the IEEE, 98(5), 688–703. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2010.2040550

- Le Vine, M, D., de Matthaeis, P., Ruf, C.S., Chen, D.D., 2014. Aquarius RFI detection and mitigation algorithm: assessment and examples. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 52 (8), 4574–4584.
- Le Vine, D. M., & Dinnat, E. P. (2022). Measurement of SST and SSS Using Frequencies in the Range 0.3 2.0 GHz. Radio Science. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021RS007415
- Levy, M., Ferrari, E., Franks, P.J., Martin, A.P., and Riviere, P. (2012) Bringing physics to life at the submesoscale. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39(14)
- Levy , M., and Martin, A.P. (2013) The influence of mesoscale and submesoscale heterogeneity on ocean biogeochemical reactions. Global Biogeochem. Cy. 27(4), 1139-1150
- Li, T., Y.-Z. Chen, L.-J. Han, L.-H. Cheng, Y.-H. Lv, B.-J. Fu, X.-M. Feng, and X. Wu, 2021. Shortened duration and reduced area of frozen soil in the Northern Hemisphere. The Innovation, 2, 3, 100146, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100146.
- Li, X., Wigneron, J.-P., Frappart, F., Fan, L., Ciais, P., Fensholt, R., Entekhabi, D., Brandt, M., Konings, A.G., Liu, X., Wang, M., Al-Yaari, A., Moisy, C. (2021). Global-scale Assessment and Inter-Comparison of Recently Developed/Reprocessed Microwave Satellite Vegetation Optical Depth Products. Remote Sensing of Environment, 253, 112208.
- Liu, H., L. Wang & K. C. Jezek. (2005). Wavelet-transform based edge detection approach to derivation of snowmelt onset, end and duration from satellite passive microwave measurements, International Journal of Remote Sensing, 26:21, 4639-4660, DOI: 10.1080/01431160500213342
- Liu, Y., Holtzman, N. M., & Konings, A. G. (2021). Global ecosystem-scale plant hydraulic traits retrieved using model–data fusion. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 25(5), 2399-2417.
- Liu, Z., J.S. Kimball, N.C. Parazoo, A.P. Ballantyne, W.J. Wang, N. Madani, C.G. Pan, J.D. Watts, R.H. Reichle, O. Sonnentag, P. Marsh, M. Hurkuck, M. Helbig, W.L. Quinton, D. Zona, M. Ueyama, H. Kobayashi, and E.S. Euskirchen, 2019. Increased high-latitude photosynthetic carbon gain offset by respiration carbon loss during an anomalous warm winter to spring transition. Global Change Biology, 26, 2, 682-696, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14863.
- Long D.G., and J.Z. Miller, 2023. Validation of the Effective Resolution of SMAP Enhanced Resolution Backscatter Products, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing, 16, 3390-3404, doi:10.1109/JSTARS.2022.3160726.
- Long, D.G., M.J. Brodzik, and M. Hardman, 2023. Evaluating the Effective Resolution of Enhanced Resolution SMAP Brightness Temperature Image Products, Frontiers in Remote Sensing, 4(1073765), 10 pgs., doi:10.3389/frsen.2023.1073765.
- Macelloni, G., Leduc-Leballeur, M., Montomoli, F., Brogioni, M., Ritz, C., & Picard, G. (2019). On the retrieval of internal temperature of Antarctica Ice Sheet by using SMOS observations. In Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 233, p. 111405). Elsevier BV. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111405
- Mahrt, L., 2000: Surface Heterogeneity and Vertical Structure of the Boundary Layer. Boundary-Layer Meteorology, 96, 33–62, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1002482332477.
- Marchand, N., Royer, A., Krinner, G., Roy, A., Langlois, A. (2018). Snow-covered ground-temperature retrieval in Canadian arctic permafrost areas using a land surface scheme informed with satellite remote sensing data, Remote Sensing, 10, 1703.
- Martens, B., Miralles, D. G., Lievens, H., van der Schalie, R., de Jeu, R. A. M., Fernández-Prieto, D., Beck, H. E., Dorigo, W. A., and Verhoest, N. E. C.: GLEAM v3: satellite-based land evaporation and root-zone soil moisture, (2017). Geosci. Model Dev., 10, 1903–1925.

- Martín-Neira, M., Oliva, R., Corbella, I., Torres, F., Duffo, N., Durán, I., Kainulainen, J., Closa, J., Zurita, A., Cabot, F., Khazaal, A., Anterrieu, E., Barbosa, J., Lopes, G., Tenerelli, J., Díez-García, R., Fauste, J., Martín-Porqueras, F., González-Gambau, V., ... Suess, M. (2016). SMOS instrument performance and calibration after six years in orbit. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 180, pp. 19–39). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.02.036
- Maslanik, J., J. Stroeve, C. Fowler, and W. Emery, 2011: Distribution and trends in Arctic sea ice age through spring 2011. Geophys. Res. Lett., 38, https://doi.org/10.1029/2011GL047735
- Mateo-Sanchis, A., A., M. Piles, J. Muñoz-Marí, J. Adsuara, A. Pérez-Suay, G. Camps-Valls, Synergistic Integration of Optical and Microwave Satellite Data for Crop Yield Estimation, Remote Sensing of Environment, vol. 234, 111460, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111460.
- Mavrovic A, Sonnentag O, Lemmetyinen J, Voigt C, Rutter N, Mann P, Sylvain JD, Roy A. (2023). Environmental controls of non-growing season carbon dioxide fluxes in boreal and tundra environments. Biogeosciences, 20:24, 5087-5108.
- McMullan, K. D., Brown, M. a., Martin-Neira, M., Rits, W., Ekholm, S., Marti, J., & Lemanczyk, J. (2008). SMOS: The Payload. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 46(3), 594–605. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2007.914809.
- McPhee, M.G.; Proshutinsky, A.; Morison, J.H.; Steele, M.; Alkire, M.B. Rapid change in freshwater content of the Arctic Ocean. Geophys. Res. Lett. 2009, 36, L10602.
- Meissner, T., Wentz, F., and Ricciardulli, L. (2014). The emission and scattering of L-band microwave radiation from rough ocean surfaces and wind speed measurements from Aquarius. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 119, 6499–6522. doi: 10.1002/2014JC009837
- Miller, J.Z., D.G. Long, K.C. Jezek, J.T. Johnson, M.J. Brodzik, C.A. Shuman, L.S. Koenig, T.A. Scambos, (2020). Mapping Greenland's perennial firn aquifers using enhanced-resolution L-band brightness temperature image time series, The Cryosphere, 4, 2809-2817, doi:10.5194/tc-14-2809-2020.
- Miller, J.Z., D.G. Long, C.A. Shuman, R. Culberg, M. Hardman, and M.J. Brodzik, (2022a). Mapping firn saturation over Greenland using NASA's Soil Moisture Active Passive satellite, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing, 15, 3714-3729, doi:10.1109/JSTARS.2022.31544968.
- Miller, J.Z., R. Culberg, D.G. Long, C.A. Shuman, D.M. Schroeder, and M.J. Brodzik, (2022b). An empirical algorithm to map perennial firn aquifers and ice slabs within the Greenland Ice Sheet using satellite L-band microwave radiometry, The Cryosphere, 16, 1-23, doi:10.5194/tc-14-2809-2020.
- Miller, J. Z., Long, D. G., Shuman, C. A., & Scambos, T. A. (2023). Satellite Mapping of the Extent and Physical Characteristics of an Expansive Perennial Firn Aquifer in the Wilkins Ice Shelf, Antarctic Peninsula. In IGARSS 2023-2023 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (pp. 219-222).
- Miralles, D.G., Gentine, P., Seneviratne, S.I. and Teuling, A.J. (2019), Land–atmospheric feedbacks during droughts and heatwaves: state of the science and current challenges. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 1436: 19-35. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13912
- Misra, S., Ruf, C., 2008. Detection of radio-frequency interference for the Aquarius radiometer. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 46, 3123–3128.
- Montero, M., N. Reul, C. de Boyer Montegut, J. Vialard, S. Brachet, S. Guimbard, D. Vandemark, and J. Tournadre (2023). SSS estimates from AMSR-E radiometer in the Bay of Bengal: algorithm

principles and limits. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 61(4206921), 21p. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2023.3305203

- Mote, T.L., and M.R. Anderson. (1995). Variations in Snowpack Melt on the Greenland Ice Sheet Based on Passive-Microwave Measurements. J. Glaciology, Vol. 41, No. 137, pp. 51-60. https://doi.org/10.3189/S0022143000017755
- Mousavi, S., A. Colliander, J.Z. Miller, D. Entekhabi, J.T. Johnson, C.A. Shuman, J.S. Kimball, Z.R. Courville. (2021). Evaluation of Surface Melt on the Greenland Ice Sheet using SMAP L-Band Microwave Radiometry, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens. vol. 14, pp. 11439-11449, 2021, doi: 10.1109/JSTARS.2021.3124229.
- Mousavi, S., A. Colliander, J.Z. Miller, J.S. Kimball. (2022). A Novel Approach to Map the Intensity of Surface Melting on the Antarctica Ice Sheet using SMAP L-Band Microwave Radiometry, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens. vol. 15, pp. 1724-1743, 2022, doi: 10.1109/JSTARS.2022.3147430
- Natali, S., Watts, J., Rogers, B., Potter, S., Ludwig, S., Selbmann, A.-K., Sullivan, P., Abbott, B., Arndt, K., Birch, L., Björkman, M., Bloom, A., Celis, G., Christensen, T., Christiansen, C., Commane, R., Cooper, E., Crill, P., Czimczik, C., Davydov, S., Du, J., Egan, J., Elberling, B., Euskirchen, E., Friborg, T., Genet, H., Göckede, M., Goodrich, J., Grogan, P., Helbig, M., Jafarov, E., Jastrow, J., Kalhori, A., Kim, Y., Kimball, J., Kutzbach, L., Lara, M., Larsen, K., Lee, B.-Y., Liu, Z., Loranty, M., Lund, M., Lupascu, M., Madani, N., Malhotra, A., Matamala, R., McFarland, J., McGuire, A., Michelsen, A., Minions, C., Oechel, W., Olefeldt, D., Parmentier, F.-J., Pirk, N., Poulter, B., Quinton, W., Rezanezhad, F., Risk, D., Sachs, T., Schaefer, K., Schmidt, N., Schuur, E., Semenchuk, P., Shaver, G., Sonnentag, O., Starr, G., Treat, C., Waldrop, M., Wang, Y., Welker, J., Wille, C., Xu, X., Zhang, Z., Zhuang, Q., and Zona, D.: Large loss of CO2 in winter observed across the northern permafrost region, Nat. Clim. Change, 9, 852–857, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0592-8, 2019.
- Oliva, R., Martin-Neira, M., Corbella, I., Torres, F., Kainulainen, J., Tenerelli, J. E., Cabot, F., & Martin-Porqueras, F. (2013). SMOS Calibration and Instrument Performance After One Year in Orbit. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing (Vol. 51, Issue 1, pp. 654–670). https://doi.org/10.1109/tgrs.2012.2198827
- Oliva, R., Daganzo, E., Richaume, P., Kerr, Y., Cabot, F., Soldo, Y., Anterrieu, E., Reul, N., Gutierrez, A., Barbosa, J., Lopes, G., 2016. Status of Radio Frequency Interference (RFI) in the 1400–1427 MHz passive band based on six years of SMOS mission. Remote Sens. Environ. 180, 64–75.
- Omand, M.M., E.A. D'Asaro, C.M. Lee, M.J. Perry, N. Briggs, I. Cetinic, and A. Mahadevan (2015) Eddydriven subduction exports particulate organic carbon from the spring bloom, Science, 348(6231), 222-225
- Parazoo, N.C., A. Arneth, T.A.M. Pugh, B. Smith, N. Steiner, K. Luus, R. Commane, J. Benmergui, E. Stofferahn, J. Liu, C. Rodenbeck, R. Kawa, E. Euskirchen, D. Zona, K. Arndt, W. Oechel, and C. Miller, 2018. Spring photosynthetic onset and net CO2 uptake in Alaska triggered by landscape thawing. Global Change Biology, 24, 8, 3416-3435, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14283.
- Park, H., Y. Kim, and J.S. Kimball, 2016. Widespread permafrost vulnerability and soil active layer increases over the high northern latitudes inferred from satellite remote sensing and process model assessments. Remote Sensing of Environment, 175, 349-358, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2015.12.046.
- Peng, J., Loew, A., Merlin, O., & Verhoest, N. E. (2017). A review of spatial downscaling of satellite remotely sensed soil moisture. Reviews of Geophysics, 55(2), 341-366. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016RG000543.

- Peng, J., Misra, S., Piepmeier, J. R., Dinnat, E. P., Yueh, S. H., Meissner, T., Le Vine, D. M., Shelton, K. E., Freedman, A. P., Dunbar, R. S., Chan, S. K., Bindlish, R., De Amici, G., Mohammed, P. N., Hong, L., Hudson, D., & Jackson, T. (2019). Soil Moisture Active/Passive (SMAP) L-Band Microwave Radiometer Post-Launch Calibration Upgrade. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing (Vol. 12, Issue 6, pp. 1647–1657). https://doi.org/10.1109/jstars.2019.2902492
- Piepmeier, J. R., Focardi, P., Horgan, K. A., Knuble, J., Ehsan, N., Lucey, J., Brambora, C., Brown, P. R., Hoffman, P. J., French, R. T., Mikhaylov, R. L., Kwack, E. Y., Slimko, E. M., Dawson, D. E., Hudson, D., Peng, J., Mohammed, P. N., de Amici, G., Freedman, A. P., ... Njoku, E. G. (2017). SMAP L-Band Microwave Radiometer: Instrument Design and First Year on Orbit. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 55(4), 1954–1966. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2016.2631978
- Podest, E., McDonald, K.C., Kimball, J.S. (2014). Multisensor Microwave Sensitivity to Freeze/Thaw Dynamics Across a Complex Boreal Landscape. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 52(11), 6818-6828.
- Prince, M., A. Roy, A. Royer, and A. Langlois, 2019. Timing and spatial variability of fall soil freezing in boreal forest and its effect on SMAP L-band radiometer measurements. Remote Sensing of Environment, 231, 111230, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111230.
- Qian, Y., Huang, M., Yang, B., & Berg, L. K. (2013). A modeling study of irrigation effects on surface fluxes and land–air–cloud interactions in the Southern Great Plains. Journal of Hydrometeorology, 14(3), 700-721.
- Rantanen, M., Karpechko, A. Y., Lipponen, A., Nordling, K., Hyvärinen, O., Ruosteenoja, K., Vihma, T., and Laaksonen, A.: The Arctic has warmed nearly four times faster than the globe since 1979, Commun. Earth Environ., 3, 168, https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-022-00498-3, 2022.
- Rautiainen, K., Parkkinen, T., Lemmetyinen, J., Schwank, M., Wiesmann, A., Ikonen, J., Derksen, C., Davydov, S., Davydova, A., Boike, J., Langer, M., Drusch, M., & Pulliainen, J. (2016). SMOS prototype algorithm for detecting autumn soil freezing. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 180, pp. 346–360). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.01.012
- Reul, N., Tenerelli, J., Chapron, B., Vandemark, D., Quilfen, Y., & Kerr, Y. (2012). SMOS satellite L-band radiometer: A new capability for ocean surface remote sensing in hurricanes. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans (Vol. 117, Issue C2). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011jc007474
- Reul, N., Grodsky, S.A., Arias, M., Boutin, J., Catany, R., Chapron, B., d'Amico, F., Dinnat, E., Donlon, C., Fore, A. and Fournier, S., 2020. Sea surface salinity estimates from spaceborne L-band radiometers: An overview of the first decade of observation (2010–2019). Remote Sensing of Environment, 242, p.111769.
- Rocha, C. B., S. T. Gille, T. K. Chereskin, and D. Menemenlis (2016), Seasonality of submesoscale dynamics in the Kuroshio Extension, Geophys. Res. Lett., 43, 11,304–11,311, doi:10.1002/2016GL071349
- Rodríguez-Fernández, Nemesio, Patricia De Rosnay, Clement Albergel, Philippe Richaume, Filipe Aires, Catherine Prigent, and Yann Kerr. "SMOS neural network soil moisture data assimilation in a land surface model and atmospheric impact." Remote Sensing 11, no. 11 (2019): 1334.Roundy, J. K., C. R. Ferguson, and E. F. Wood, 2013: Temporal Variability of Land–Atmosphere Coupling and Its Implications for Drought over the Southeast United States. J. Hydrometeor., 14, 622–635, https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-D-12-090.1.
- Rodríguez-Fernández, Nemesio J., Arnaud Mialon, Stephane Mermoz, Alexandre Bouvet, Philippe Richaume, Ahmad Al Bitar, Amen Al-Yaari et al. "An evaluation of SMOS L-band vegetation optical

depth (L-VOD) data sets: high sensitivity of L-VOD to above-ground biomass in Africa." Biogeosciences 15, no. 14 (2018): 4627-4645.

- Rodríguez-Fernández, Nemesio, Patricia De Rosnay, Clement Albergel, Philippe Richaume, Filipe Aires, Catherine Prigent, and Yann Kerr. "SMOS neural network soil moisture data assimilation in a land surface model and atmospheric impact." Remote Sensing 11, no. 11 (2019): 1334.
- Rodríguez-Fernández, N. J., Zheng, J., Devaraju, M., Zhao, T., Kerr, Y., Colliander, A., & Merlin, O. (2024). The Importance of the Initial Spatial Resolution When Downscaling Soil Moisture Maps. IGARSS 2024 2024 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, Athens, Greece, 2024, pp. 4419-4422, doi: 10.1109/IGARSS53475.2024.10640624.
- Roy, A., P. Toose, M. Williamson, T. Rowlandson, C. Derksen, A. Royer, A.A. Berg, J. Lemmetyinen, and L. Arnold, 2017. Response of L-band brightness temperatures to freeze/thaw and snow dynamics in a prairie environment from ground-based radiometer measurements. Remote Sensing of Environment, 191, 67-80, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.01.017.
- Roy, A., P. Toose, A. Mavrovic, C. Pappas, A. Royer, C. Derksen, A. Berg, T. Rowlandson, M. El-Amine,
 A. Barr, A. Black, A. Langlois, and O. Sonnentag, 2020. L-band response to freeze/thaw in a boreal forest stand from ground- and tower-based radiometer observations. Remote Sensing of Environment, 237, 111542, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111542.
- Salisbury, J., Vandemark, D., Jonsson, B., Balch, W., Chakraborty, S., Lohrenz, S., et al. (2015). How can present and future satellite missions support scientific studies that address ocean acidification? Oceanography, 28.
- Santanello, J. A., and Coauthors, 2018: Land–Atmosphere Interactions: The LoCo Perspective. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 99, 1253–1272, https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-17-0001.1.
- Schmidt, L., Forkel, M., Zootta, R.-M., Scherrer, S., Dorigo, W.A., Kuhn-Regnier, A., van der Schalie, R.,
 Yebra, M. (2023). Assessing the Sensitivity of Multi-Frequency Passive Microwave Vegetation
 Optical Depth to Vegetation Properties. Biogeosciences, 20(5), 1027-1046.
- Schmugge, T., Gloersen, P., Wilheit, T., and Geiger, F. (1974), Remote sensing of soil moisture with microwave radiometers, J. Geophys. Res., 79(2), 317–323, doi:10.1029/JB079i002p00317.
- Schulz KG, Hartley S and Eyre B (2019) Upwelling Amplifies Ocean Acidification on the East Australian Shelf: Implications for Marine Ecosystems. Front. Mar. Sci. 6:636. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00636
- Schumacher, D.L., Keune, J., Dirmeyer, P., et al. Drought self-propagation in drylands due to land– atmosphere feedbacks. Nat. Geosci. 15, 262–268 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-022-00912-7
- Schuur, E.A.G., B.W. Abbott, R. Commane, et al., 2022. Permafrost and climate change: Carbon cycle feedbacks from the warming Arctic. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 47, 343-371, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012220-011847.
- Sen, A., Lagerloef, G., & Lee, T. (2014). Review of recent technical accomplishments of Aquarius NASA's first global sea surface salinity mission. In 2014 IEEE Aerospace Conference (Vol. 93, pp. 1–12). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/aero.2014.6836301
- Seneviratne, S. I., T. Corti, E. L. Davin, M. Hirschi, E. B. Jaeger, I. Lehner, B. Orlowsky, and A. J. Teuling, 2010: Investigating soil moisture–climate interactions in a changing climate: A review. Earth-Science Reviews, 99, 125–161, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.02.004.
- Siedler, G., Church, J., Gould, J., 2001. Ocean Circulation and Climate: Observing and Modelling the Global Ocean. Academic Press, London.

- Simon, J. S., A. D. Bragg, P. A. Dirmeyer, and N. W. Chaney, 2021: Semi-Coupling of a Field-Scale Resolving Land-Surface Model and WRF-LES to Investigate the Influence of Land-Surface Heterogeneity on Cloud Development. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 13, e2021MS002602, https://doi.org/10.1029/2021MS002602.
- Song, Q.; Zhang, J.; Cui, T.; Bao, Y. Retrieval of sea surface salinity with MERIS and MODIS data in the Bohai Sea. Remote Sens. Environ. 2013, 136, 117–125.
- Su, Z., Wang, J., Klein, P. et al. Ocean submesoscales as a key component of the global heat budget. Nat Commun 9, 775 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-02983-w
- Sun, D.; Su, X.; Qiu, Z.; Wang, S.; Mao, Z.; He, Y. Remote Sensing Estimation of Sea Surface Salinity from GOCI Measurements in the Southern Yellow Sea. Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 775.
- Swift, C.T., 1974. Microwave radiometer measurements of the Cape Cod canal. Radio Sci. 9 (7), 641–653.
- Swift, C.; McIntosh, R. Considerations for microwave remote sensing of ocean-surface salinity. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Electron. 1983, 21, 480–491
- Tang, W., Fore, A., Yueh, S., Lee, T., Hayashi, A., Sanchez-Franks, A., Martinez, J., King, B., & Baranowski, D. (2017). Validating SMAP SSS with in situ measurements. Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 200, pp. 326–340). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.08.021
- Tawfik, A. B., P. A. Dirmeyer, and J. A. Santanello, 2015: The Heated Condensation Framework. Part I: Description and Southern Great Plains Case Study. Journal of Hydrometeorology, 16, 1929– 1945, https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-D-14-0117.1.
- Taylor, C. M., A. Gounou, F. Guichard, P. P. Harris, R. J. Ellis, F. Couvreux, and M. De Kauwe, 2011: Frequency of Sahelian storm initiation enhanced over mesoscale soil-moisture patterns. Nature Geoscience, 4, 430–433, https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1173.
- Taylor, C., de Jeu, R., Guichard, F. et al. Afternoon rain more likely over drier soils. Nature 489, 423–426 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11377
- Tedesco, M. (2007), Snowmelt Detection over the Greenland Ice Sheet from SSM/I Brightness Temperature Daily Variations, Geophys. Res. Lett., Vol. 34, No. L02504, DOI: 10.1029/2006GL028466.
- Tedesco, M. (2009). Assessment and development of snowmelt retrieval algorithms over Antarctica from K-band spaceborne brightness temperature (1979-2008), Remote Sens. Environ., Vol. 113, No. 5, pp. 979-997, DOI: 10.1016/j.rse.2009.01.009.
- Thouvenin-Masson, C.; Boutin, J.; Vergely, J.-L.; Reverdin, G.; Martin, A.C.H.; Guimbard, S.; Reul, N.;
 Sabia, R.; Catany, R.; Hembise Fanton-d'Andon, O. Satellite and In Situ Sampling Mismatches:
 Consequences for the Estimation of Satellite Sea Surface Salinity Uncertainties. Remote Sens.
 2022,14,1878. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/rs14081878
- Togliatti, K., Hartman, T., Walker, V.A., Arkebauer, T.J., Suyker, A.E., VanLoocke, A., Hornbuckle, B.K.
 (2019). Satellite L-band Vegetation Optical Depth is Directly Proportional to Crop Water in the US Corn Belt. Remote Sensing of Environment, 233, 111378.
- Tramblay, Y., Villarini, G., El Khalki, E. M., Gründemann, G., & Hughes, D. (2021). Evaluation of the drivers responsible for flooding in Africa, Water Resources Research, 57, e2021WR029595, https://doi.org/10.1029/2021WR029595
- Vergopolan, N., Sheffield, J., Chaney, N. W., Pan, M., Beck, H. E., Ferguson, C. R., Torres-Rojas, L., Eigenbrod, F., Crow, W.T. and Wood, E.F. High-resolution soil moisture data reveal complex

multi-scale spatial variability across the United States. Geophysical Research Letters. 49. e2022GL098586. 1029/2022GL098586. 2022.

- Vinogradova, N., Lee, T., Boutin, J., Drushka, K., Fournier, S., Sabia, R., Stammer, D., Bayler, E., Reul, N., Gordon, A. and Melnichenko, O., 2019. Satellite salinity observing system: Recent discoveries and the way forward. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6, p.428925.
- Vazquez-Cuervo, J.; Gomez-Valdes, J.; Bouali, M. Comparison of Satellite-Derived Sea Surface Temperature and Sea Surface Salinity Gradients Using the Saildrone California/Baja and North Atlantic Gulf Stream Deployments. Remote Sens. 2020, 12, 1839. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12111
- Wang, X., Dannenberg, M.P., Yan, D., Jones, M.O., Kimball, J.S., Moore, J.P., van Leeuwen, W.J.D.,
 Didan, K., Smith, W.K. (2020). Globally Consistent Patterns of Asynchrony in Vegetation
 Phenology Derived from Optical, Microwave, and Fluorescence Satellite Data. JGR Biogeosciences 125(7), e2020JG005732.
- Wigneron, J.-P.*, Li, X., Frappart F., Fan L., Al-Yaari A., De Lannoy G., Liu X., Wang M., Le Masson E., Moisy C., SMOS-IC data record of soil moisture and L-VOD: historical development, applications and perspectives, Remote Sens. Env., 254, 112238, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2020.112238, 2021.
- Wigneron J.-P., L. Fan, P. Ciais, A. Bastos, M. Brandt, J. Chave, S. Saatchi, A. Baccini, R. Fensholt, Tropical forests did not recover from the strong 2015-2016 El Niño event, Science Advances, vol. 6, no. 6, eaay4603, 2020, DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aay4603
- Wigneron J.-P. et al., 2024, Carbon balance of global vegetation: satellite-based L-VOD results over the last decade and perspectives, Frontiers in Remote Sensing, Vol. 5, 2024. doi: 10.3389/frsen.2024.1338618
- Western, A.W., G. Blöschl and R. B. Grayson (2001) Towards capturing hydrologically significant connectivity in spatial patterns. Water Resources Research, 37 (1), pp. 83-97.
- Wulfmeyer, V., J. M. V. Pineda, S. Otte, M. Karlbauer, M. V. Butz, T. R. Lee, and V. Rajtschan, 2023: Estimation of the Surface Fluxes for Heat and Momentum in Unstable Conditions with Machine Learning and Similarity Approaches for the LAFE Data Set. Boundary-Layer Meteorol, 186, 337– 371, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10546-022-00761-2.
- Yang, H., Ciais, P., Frappart, F. ... Wigneron J.-P., Global increase in biomass carbon stock dominated by growth of northern young forests over past decade. Nat. Geosci. 16, 886–892 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-023-01274-4.
- Yueh, S.; West, R.; Wilson, W.; Li, F.; Nghiem, S.; Rahmat-Samii, Y. Error sources and feasibility for microwave remote sensing of ocean surface salinity. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 2001, 39, 1049–1059
- Yueh, S. H., Fore, A. G., Tang, W., Hayashi, A., Stiles, B., Reul, N., Weng, Y., & Zhang, F. (2016). SMAP
 L-Band Passive Microwave Observations of Ocean Surface Wind During Severe Storms. IEEE
 Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing (Vol. 54, Issue 12, pp. 7339–7350).
 https://doi.org/10.1109/tgrs.2016.2600239
- Yi, Y., J.S. Kimball, R.H. Chen, M. Moghaddam, and C.H. Miller, 2019. Sensitivity of active-layer freezing process to snow cover in Alaska. The Cryosphere, 13, 1, 197-218, https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-13-197-2019.

- Zhu, L., A.R. Ives, C. Zhang, Y. Guo, and V.C. Radeloff, 2019. Climate change causes functionally colder winters for snow cover-dependent organisms. Nature Climate Change 9, 886-893, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0588-4.
- Zwally, J.H., & S. Fiegles. (1994). Extent and duration of Antarctic surface melting. Journal of Glaciology, 40(136), 463-475. doi:10.3189/S0022143000012338

Appendix: Workshop Agenda

Science of 10-km Resolution L-band Radiometry

Jet Propulsion Laboratory - Meeting Room: 180-101

October 10-12, 2023

Day 1

Setting the Stage (Chair: Andreas Colliander)

8:00	Registration	
8:30	Opening Remarks	Duane Waliser
8:40	Welcome and Introductions	Andreas Colliander
8:55	Meeting Objectives	Andreas Colliander
9:15	Current State of L-band Radiometry	Dara Entekhabi
9:35	Outlook of L-band Radiometry	Andreas Colliander
9:50	ESA User Consultation Study on the Need of L-band Radiometry	Matthias Drusch (remote)
10:10	Break	
10:25	Feasibility of 10-km Resolution L-band radiometry	Andreas Colliander
10:45	Discussion	

Cryosphere: Sea Ice (Chair: Ted Maksym)

11:00	On Sea Ice and Its Importance in the Climate System and Processes Observable with 10 km L-band Radiometry	Ted Maksym
11:30	Sea Ice Thickness Retrieval	Lars Kaleschke (remote)
11:45	Lunch	

Cryosphere: Ice Sheets (Chair: Joel Harper)

12:45	Overview of Science Problem, Value of Liquid Water Retrieval, and	Joel Harper
	Treatment of Spatial Scales	
13:25	Ice Sheet LWC Retrieval (L-band and multi-freq.)	Andreas Colliander
13:40	Firn Aquifer Detection and Monitoring (L-band)	Julie Miller
13:55	Ice Sheet Temperature Retrieval	Giovanni Macelloni (remote)

Cryosphere: Land Surface and Freeze/Thaw (Chair: Alexandre Roy)

14:10	Importance of Vegetation Growth Processes and Methane Release to	Alexandre Roy
	Earth System and Linkage of F/T Spatial Scales to the Processes	
14:50	Break	
15:05	Retrieval of F/T with L-band Radiometry	Xiaolan Xu
15:25	Enhancement with C- to Ka-band Radiometry	John Kimball

Atmosphere: Convective Initiation (Chair: Steven Quiring)

15:40	Significance of Convective Processes in INCUS	Kristen Rasmussen
16:00	Soil Moisture-Precipitation Interactions in the Central United States	Trent Ford
16:20	Investigating Spatial Relationships Between Soil Moisture and Tornado	Jana Houser
	Events using SMAP	
17:00	Adjourn Day 1	

<u>Day 2</u>

Oceanography (Chair: Severine Fournier/Tony Lee)

8:00	Preparation for day 2	
8:30	Operational Implications of Higher Resolution Sea Surface Salinity (NOAA)	Eric Bayler
		(remote)
8:45	Sea Surface Salinity and Open Ocean Processes	Fred Bingham
9:00	Sea Surface Salinity and Coastal Processes	Doug Vandemark
9:15	Sea Surface Salinity and Polar Processes	Julian Schanze
9:30	Air/Sea Fluxes and Impact of Sea Surface Salinity at Small Scales	Lisan Yu
9:45	SSS Retrieval with 1.4 GHz and Wide-Band Measurements	Sidharth Misra
10:00	SSS Enhancement with C- to Ka-band Radiometer Measurements	Alex Akins
10:15	Break	

Hydrology: Water and Energy Cycle (Chair: Dara Entekhabi/Wade Crow)

10:45	Soil Moisture and Land-Atmosphere Coupling with Higher Resolution Soil	Josh Roundy
	Moisture	
11:00	Soil Moisture Heterogeneity and Triggering of Atmospheric Convection	Paul Dirmeyer (remote)
11:15	Global Estimates of L-band Vegetation Optical Depth and Soil Permittivity	Ardeshir Ebtehaj
	over Snow-covered Boreal Forests and Permafrost using SMAP Satellite	

Hydrology: Land Surface Models (Chair: Wade Crow)

11:30	Issues and Challenges in Soil Moisture Data Assimilation	Sujay Kumar (remote)
11:45	NWP/Hydrologic Forecasting Implications	Stephane Belair (remote)
12:00	Issues In Soil Moisture Assimilation with LSM	Wade Crow
12:15	Lunch	

Hydrology: Soil Moisture Applications and Retrieval (Chair: Thomas Holmes)

13:30	Surface Soil Moisture and Plant Water Uptake	Andrew Feldman (remote)
13:45	SM Retrieval with L-band Radiometry	Rajat Bindlish
14:00	Multichannel PMW for soil moisture and Evapotranspiration	Thomas Holmes

Breakouts (Chair: Andreas Colliander)

14:15	Organize to Breakouts	
14:30	BREAKOUT 1 (including break)	
16:30	Breakout Summaries	
17:15	Adjourn Day 2	

Day 3

Ecology (Chair: John Kimball)

8:00	Preparation for day 3	
8:30	Importance of Biomass and Plant Hydrology to Earth System	Paul Siqueira
9:00	L-band VOD biomass Applications	Maria Piles (remote)
9:15	VOD Applications for Plant Hydrology	Alex Konings
9:30	Review of Measuring VOD Dynamics with L through X-band Radiometry	JP Wigneron (remote)
9:45	VOD Linkage to Biomass and Vegetation Water Content over Croplands	Brian Hornbuckle

Breakouts (Chair: Andreas Colliander)

10:00	BREAKOUT 2 (including brake)	
11:15	Breakout Summaries and Inputs to Science Traceability Matrices	
12:00	Closing and Future Activities	
12:30	Adjourn Day 3	